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5-Year Financial Highlights (Dollars in thousands except per share)
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% Change Five-Year
2005 v. 2004 Growth 2004 2003 2002 2001

Assets $1,641,121 +28% +28% $1,277,367 $1,051,989 $786,598 $609,890

Deposits 1,371,062 +18% +25% 1,160,547 906,527 726,955 561,738

Loans 815,439 +28% +25% 638,496 469,937 363,735 338,130

Net Income 8,817* +3% +19% 8,591 6,557 5,674 4,448

Net Income 1.38* (15)% +10% 1.63 1.34 1.18 0.97
Per Share

2005 Highlights

• Opened four new stores, increasing total to 28

• Introduced unlimited ATM surcharge refunds

• Initiated extended day (deposits credited up to 6 pm)

• Unveiled RapidDepositSM Cash Management product

• Obtained SBA CommunityExpress Lender status

*Includes one-time charges in the fourth quarter of 2005.

Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc., holding company of Commerce Bank/Harrisburg, N.A., is an independent member of the
Commerce Network, a network of banks established by New Jersey-based Commerce Bancorp, Inc. With its own separate board of
directors, management and stock, Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp has followed the same successful retail approach originated by
Commerce Bancorp for more than 20 years. In addition to sharing the Commerce Bank logo, brand, prototype store design and
operating model, the two organizations share a record of exceptional performance and extraordinary growth. 



Dear Shareholders, Customers and Friends:

In 2005, our 20th anniversary year, Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp
again demonstrated its strength despite facing one of the more
challenging interest rate environments in the Bank’s history.

We continued to build on our growth retail model and expand our
network of convenient stores. We continued to sweep Customers off
their feet with exceptional service. We continued to capitalize on our
alliance with New Jersey-based Commerce Bancorp which, since our
inception, has provided us with an unrivaled competitive advantage.

Growth Retailer

At the forefront of our enduring success is our distinct retail approach
to banking. As a growth retailer, we:

• Exceed Customer expectations;

• Consistently outperform the competition;

• Produce predictable, exceptional financial results; and

• Successfully replicate our model in new markets.

Financial Results

Commerce continued its record of double-digit growth in 2005.

• Assets grew 28% to $1.64 billion

• Deposits grew 18% to $1.37 billion

• Net loans grew 28% to $815.4 million

• Revenue grew 12% to $65.1 million

The year was marked by a rare interest rate environment in which

long-term rates had the same level of yields as did short-term rates.

Characterized as a “flat” yield curve, the unique rate environment

affected banks nationwide, including Commerce, adding pressure to

our net interest margin and constraining our historical net interest

income growth.

We feel this net interest margin compression is a short-term hurdle

and we remain committed to the expansion of the Commerce model

through the delivery of Legendary Service to our Customers.

In the fourth quarter, we utilized the flat yield curve to reposition

approximately $48 million of our investment portfolio from fixed to

floating rates, a protective measure against further net interest margin

compression. In doing so, we incurred an after-tax charge of $567,000,

or $0.09 per share.

Letter to Shareholders
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Gary L. Nalbandian
Chairman, President and CEO



Additionally, we accelerated the vesting of all prior stock options in the

fourth quarter, leaving us with no legacy stock option expense for 2006

and beyond.

Net income (after these one-time charges) increased 3% to $8.8 million.

Excluding the impact of the investment portfolio repositioning and

stock option acceleration, which together totaled $612,000, net of tax,

or $0.10 per share, our net income grew 10% to $9.4 million. The

increase was achieved despite the challenging rate environment and the

costs associated with opening four new stores during the year.

Earnings per share (after one-time charges) were down 15% to $1.38.

Excluding the same one-time charges, earnings per share were $1.48,

down 9% from the previous year. This reflects the impact of a 21%

increase in the number of average shares outstanding in 2005 versus

the prior year, primarily the result of a public stock offering in the

fourth quarter of 2004.

New Stores

Commerce is a true growth company. Our growth comes from two
sources: comparable store deposit growth from existing stores and
deposit growth from new stores.

Annual Return

From left: David B. Skerpon, Chief Retail Officer; 
D. Scott Huggins, Chief Risk Officer; Mark A. Zody,
Chief Financial Officer; Rory G. Ritrievi, Chief
Lending Officer.

COBH* S&P 500

One Year 1% 5%

Five Years 23% 1%

Ten Years 23% 9%

*Stock Price as of 12/31/05 – $31.85
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In 2005, “same store” total deposit growth, for stores open one year or
more, was 14%. We opened four new stores during the year, increasing
our total to 28.

We continued our expansion in the Reading market, adding two new
locations. Business has soared since we entered Reading in 2003. At year-
end, deposits in the region grew to $75 million, up 80% from 2004.

We also continued to fill gaps between existing stores, opening a
new location in both the Lebanon and York areas.

New Markets

During the past 20 years, we’ve branched out from Harrisburg
to communities throughout Central Pennsylvania including
Carlisle, Lebanon, Reading and York. In 2006, we will expand
our footprint again by opening our first stores in Lancaster.

The Lancaster region is undergoing exciting growth and
prosperity. We look forward to delivering the Commerce
experience to the 500,000 people who call Lancaster home. 

Shareholder Return

Over the past 10 years, we have produced a compounded
Shareholder return of 23% a year, outpacing the S&P 500
Index return of 9%.

Commerce Future

There is hardly another bank in our footprint that has 
the same name it did 20 years ago. Commerce Bank is 
the exception.

In the coming years, we will continue to build the Commerce
Brand in more communities and more new markets with the objective of
consistently creating value for Shareholders.

We plan to expand our store network in 2006 to 31 stores and are
targeting as many as 59 locations by 2011.

More than 800 individuals are part of the Commerce Team. I extend 
my personal thanks to each and every one of them for their daily
contributions to Commerce’s success. Thank you to our Customers — we
will continue to strive to exceed your expectations at every opportunity.
And my sincerest gratitude to our Shareholders. We look forward to your
support as we embark on many more years of Legendary Service.

Gary L. Nalbandian
Chairman, President and CEO
April 3, 2006

Letter to Shareholders

The Commerce Future 
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Commerce Locations
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Frank Fischer
Regional Vice President

Trudie Olkowski
Retail Market Manager

Harry Zimmerman
Regional Vice President

Cheryl Thoman-Riebling
Retail Market Manager

Adam Metz
Regional Vice President

Troy Erdman
Retail Market Manager

Joseph Butto
Regional Vice President

East Shore Region West Shore Region York Region Reading Region
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A Unique Alliance

Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc., holding company

of Commerce Bank/Harrisburg, N.A., is an independent

member of the Commerce Network, a network of banks

established by New Jersey-based Commerce Bancorp, Inc.

With its own separate board of directors, management and

stock, Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp follows the same

successful retail approach originated by Commerce

Bancorp. The two organizations share the Commerce Bank

logo, brand, prototype store design and operating model.

Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp 

NASDAQ: COBH

Founded: 1985

Headquarters: Harrisburg, Pennsylvania

Footprint: Central Pennsylvania

Stores: 28

Employees: 800+

Commerce Bancorp

NYSE: CBH

Founded: 1973

Headquarters: Cherry Hill, New Jersey

Footprint: Metro New York, Metro Philadelphia, Metro  

Washington, D.C., and Southeast Florida

Stores: 375+

Employees: 13,000+

7

20
Y E A R S
of Legendary
Service

Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp’s alliance with New Jersey-
based Commerce Bancorp enables Customers to seamlessly
bank at an additional 375+ stores in seven states. As
Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp rapidly expands its footprint,
Commerce Bancorp is quickly growing in metro areas like New
York, Washington, D.C., and Southeast Florida.

Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp

Commerce Bancorp

FL 



Two Decades of Legendary Service!

Although our model is based on the same retail approach

originated by New Jersey-based Commerce Bancorp,

Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp is a separate entity that

was formed 20 years ago.

We’ve never considered ourselves a conventional bank.

As we look ahead, we will continue to demonstrate our

difference by providing superior products, services and

facilities; reinforcing our culture; and zealously executing

our model. We aspire to deliver Legendary Service in new

and existing markets for another 20 years and beyond.

A Milestone

8

Tom and Lisa Jewett of
Mechanicsburg, PA, say that
Commerce Bank is simply
the best. They are still
amazed by Commerce’s
hours and service, even 
after being Customers for
20 years.

For Pat Dunbar of
Harrisburg, PA, banking
with Commerce is a family
tradition. Twenty years
after opening her first
account, she says her
family’s relationship with
Commerce now spans
three generations.

Commerce is the bank 
that others are constantly
trying to keep up with, 
says Patricia Napoli of
Dillsburg, PA. She was 
one of Commerce’s first
Customers in 1985 and
remains a loyal Fan today.

No other bank compares to
Commerce, says Ron and
Angela Moroz of Camp
Hill, PA. Without hesitation,
they assert that Commerce
has the best people, service
and products to be found.

20
Y E A R S
of Legendary
Service



Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet,
consectetuer adipiscing elit, sed
diam nonummy nibh euismod
tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna
aliquam erat volutpat.  Ut wisi
enim ad minim veniam, quis
nostrud exerci tation ullamcorper 

Lancaster in 2006

Openings in 2005

Commerce is renowned for its

spectacular Grand Opening

celebrations!

Team Members greet Customers

with smiles, food, games, prizes,

music, entertainment and, of course,

great Commerce service. The celebrations

create widespread buzz about America’s

Most Convenient Bank®!

Four Grand Openings were held in 2005,

expanding Commerce’s network to 28

stores in five counties.

East Shore Region

• West Cumberland Street

North Cornwall Township

Reading Region

• Lancaster Avenue

Cumru Township 

• State Hill Road

Wyomissing Borough

York Region

• Mount Zion Road 

Springettsbury Township

Commerce will open its first stores in Lancaster County in
2006. Central Market, pictured below with Commerce
mascot Mr. C and representatives of the Commerce Team,
is among the most widely known landmarks in the county. 
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“We appreciate the excellent

service we receive at

Commerce! Your

convenient hours and great

personnel make going to

the bank a pleasure!”
“We appreciate the excellent
service we receive at
Commerce! Your
convenient hours and great
personnel make going to
the bank a pleasure!”
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personnel make going to
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“We appreciate the excellent
service we receive at
Commerce! Your
convenient hours and great
personnel make going to
the bank a pleasure!”

Making Commerce Fans!

Commerce Bank’s Customer Service philosophy is, in a word, 

all about WOW! 

We are relentless in our efforts to exceed Customer expectations and

create great retail experiences. So much so, in fact, that we aim to turn

our Customers into true Commerce Fans!

Celebrating Service

At Commerce, we go out of our way (and sometimes over the top!) 

to recognize our Team Members for doing it right. 

Exemplary acts of Customer Service are celebrated by surprising

WOW! Superstars with praise and appreciation. Team Members also

are encouraged to call attention to Stupid Rules that stand in the 

way of great service — and they earn rewards when those policies 

are eliminated. 

And there’s our Academy-Awards style Annual WOW! Awards, where

Commerce Team Members gather to salute the “Best of the Best.” In

2005, nearly 500 WOWers filled the Whitaker Center for Science and

the Arts’ Sunoco Performance Theater in Downtown Harrisburg. The

house roared with cheers and WOW! Spirit, as more than 60 Team

Members were honored for going above and beyond to deliver

Legendary Service.

Living the Brand

Commerce Team Members have an extraordinary level of pride in our

Company and our Brand.

On any given Friday, it’s virtually impossible to find a Team Member

who isn’t wearing our signature “red” color. (Friday is known as “Red

Friday” at Commerce.)

Our Commerce “C” lapel pins are famous for catching attention, too.

As Team Members who wear the pins go about their day, it’s not at all

unusual for people to stop them and say, “Commerce is my bank” or

“I love that bank!”

The Power of 
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“You have a wonderful way

of making even previously

tiresome tasks pleasant and

your efficiency WOWs me!”

Excerpts of Real Letters from Real Fans

“I just want to thank you
for your exceptional service.
Your service in general is
excellent but your 
online banking service is
outstanding.”

“I recommend your bank

whenever I have the

opportunity. You are truly the

best bank I have ever used.”

“We appreciate the
excellent service we receive
at Commerce! Your
convenient hours and great
personnel make going to
the bank a pleasure!”
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20
Y E A R S
of Legendary
Service

Commerce Team Members celebrate the Commerce culture
and honor the “Best of the Best” in WOW! service at our
Academy-Awards style Annual WOW! Awards.



Fostering Legendary Service

Customers, external and internal, are surprised and delighted daily by

Commerce’s Legendary Service — and it’s certainly not by chance. 

The development of our team and the promotion of our “WOW! the

Customer” philosophy starts at Commerce University, the Bank’s 

in-house training, development and education department. 

Instructors at Commerce University teach the Commerce culture and

how to live it, but that’s just the tip of the iceberg. The University is a

resource to help every Team Member, in every department, develop

his or her expertise and advance along a Commerce career path.

Knowledge and Skills

Training opportunities at Commerce University are boundless. 

Nine courses were added in 2005, bringing the total to 62. Among the

newer programs are The Road to WOW!, So You Want to Be a Supervisor?,

Commercial Lending Basics and Consumer Loan Certification.

Total enrolled participants exceeded 3,000 in 264 classes. Thirty-seven

of those classes were “Traditions” programs — engaging orientations

especially tailored to welcome new members of the Commerce Team.

Career Development

We continued to build on our Management Development Associate

program in 2005. The program produces new leaders within the

organization, blending on-the-job training, classroom instruction

and individualized mentoring. In addition to our retail-oriented

MDA program, Commerce formalized a three-year Commercial

Lending training curriculum.

Commerce also further developed its PATHWAYS career advancement

program. Featuring “learning snapshots” for every store position, the

program provides training paths for Team Members to enhance their

service, operational and leadership skills. Each snapshot helps promote

the achievement of another level of professional growth at Commerce.

Commerce University

12

Five simple rules, which we call the
“SMART” Principles, guide each and
every Commerce Team Member in the
delivery of Legendary Service.

Team Members can access course
descriptions and enroll in classes
electronically using Commerce
University’s interactive database.
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A sampling of the University’s course selections:

• Business Etiquette and Professional Image

• Business Writing That Rocks

• CommerceWOW!Zone Training

• Commercial Lending Basics

• Consumer Loan Certification

• Credit Analysis Training

• Effective Communication Skills

• Leaders’ Orientation

• Managing Multiple Priorities

• Powerful Presentation Skills

• So You Want to Be a Supervisor?

• The Road to WOW!

In addition to teaching the Commerce
culture and how to live it, Commerce
University offers Team Members
pathways toward career development.



A Retailer at Heart

Commerce Bank is a retailer at heart. 

We are relentless in our efforts to exceed Customer expectations. We

are relentless in our efforts to make our Customers’ experiences with

us memorable. 

That is how we turn Customers into Commerce Fans!

Our retail approach produced another strong year of growth in 2005.

Total retail deposits increased by $53 million. Total consumer loans

increased 36% to $149 million.

Free ATMs Worldwide

Commerce Bank is widely known for redefining retail banking. Last

year, once again, we kicked it up a notch.

In 2005, Commerce became the first bank in the nation to effectively

end ATM surcharges worldwide. Customers who qualify can use their

Commerce Bank ATM/Visa® Check Cards at any ATM, anywhere,

without a surcharge. No fees from us — no fees at all.

Retail Banking

Commerce Bank is synonymous with
unparalleled Customer Service and
seven-day banking convenience.
Everything we do is about exceeding
Customer expectations and creating
memorable retail experiences.



This new benefit joined these other convenient products and services:

• Seven-Day Banking

• Open Early, Open Late (Weekdays ‘til 8 pm)

• Free Personal Checking

• Free “Instant-Issue” Commerce Check Card

• Free Interactive Penny Arcade Coin-Counting Machines

• Free Online Banking with Free Bill Pay at commercepc.com

• 24-hour Bank-by-Phone with Live Customer Service

Commerce Visa® Gift Card

Gift cards are now among the most popular gift choices among both

givers and receivers. In 2005, Customers purchased more than 14,000

Commerce Visa® Gift Cards, with a total value exceeding $1.1 million. 

The Commerce Visa® Gift Card is the only bank gift card available

without a purchase fee, completely gift-wrapped and ready to give.

Customers can purchase the card in any whole dollar amount between

$25 and $500. And, like the Commerce ATM/Visa® Check Card, the

Commerce Visa® Gift Card is issued instantly at any of our stores.

15
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Service

FREE ATM/Visa®

Check Card

Surcharge refund requires $2,500 minimum daily checking account balance each day 
of the statement cycle. Refunds apply only to personal checking account ATM transactions. Member FDIC

Plus, unlimited ATM 
surcharge refunds!

FREE ATM/Visa®

Check Card

Commerce introduced a new benefit in
2005 that effectively ends usage fees at
automated teller machines worldwide. 
No fees from us. No fees at all.



Our Popular Penny Arcade

Customers and non-Customers used our free, interactive Penny Arcade

coin-counting machines for more than 205,000 transactions in 2005

— a 35% increase over the prior year. The machines counted nearly

$18.1 million in loose change.

Taking into account that other coin-counting services charge about

nine cents for every dollar of coins counted, our Penny Arcades saved

consumers in our footprint more than $1.6 million in fees.

The Penny Arcades are popular among charitable organizations, too.

They make tallying coins collected for fundraisers easy and fun. Plus,

since coin counting at Commerce is free, every quarter, nickel, dime

and penny raised can go toward the good cause.

Retail Banking

Customers and non-Customers used
Commerce Bank’s free interactive Penny
Arcade coin-counting machines for
more than 205,000 transactions, a 35%
increase over 2004. The machines have
two touch-screens, one for adults and a
separate one at “kids-eye-level.”
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Anytime, Anywhere Banking

Commerce Bank is America’s Most Convenient Bank®. Our Customers

are empowered to bank whenever and however they choose — in our

convenient stores seven days a week or online or by phone, 24/7.

We are renowned for having the longest hours. Still, we don’t stop

there. Our stores are open every day of the year but four — New Year’s

Day, Easter Sunday, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day — providing

the ultimate in in-store banking convenience.

More than 30% of our Customers are enrolled in online banking. In

addition to accessing and managing their accounts in real-time, our

online banking Customers saved time and money by using our free bill

pay service to pay more than 358,000 bills in 2005.

Customers also bank using our 24-hour telephone banking system.

And knowledgeable Customer Service Representatives are available in

our Harrisburg, PA-based Call Center to provide the same exceptional

service Customers enjoy in our stores.

Measuring the WOW!

A bright greeting. A warm smile. Professional and accurate service. 

The delivery of Legendary Service is in the details.

We measure the quality of our service through a comprehensive

mystery shop program — customary among the nation’s leading

retailers, very uncommon among banks.

Our stores and our Call Center are

independently “shopped” more than

4,000 times during the year to make

certain that we are delivering service

that WOWs our Customers every time.

Each Commerce store features a
distinctive historic wall mural depicting a
location or event of local significance.
The mural at our Mount Zion Road store
(right) in Springettsbury Township, York
County, portrays Avalong Farms Dairy
Bar, a popular gathering place and
restaurant, c. 1956.



Local Bankers, Local Decisions

Commerce Bank’s retail philosophy — superior service, unmatched

convenience and a great Customer experience every time — is the

very same approach we apply to commercial banking.

In every case, we take the time to understand our Customers. We get

to know their needs, their strategy and their vision.

One of the hallmarks of Commerce Commercial Banking is that our

local bankers are empowered to make decisions locally. Customers

have direct access to local expertise and services are delivered promptly.

Strong Performance

Our unique, service-oriented commercial

banking model produced another year of 

strong results in 2005.

• Core deposits in the commercial segment 

grew 24% to $373 million 

• Total commercial loan outstandings grew 

29% to $582.2 million

• Commercial business loan outstandings grew

35% to $233.6 million

• Commercial origination volumes totaled

$378.9 million

Commercial Real Estate

Our total commercial real estate loans of $348.6 million, a 

26% increase, encompass a broad range of residential and 

commercial projects.

Commerce’s real estate lending experts understand the risks and

opportunities associated with the real estate industry. We are a partner

to businesses, investors and developers engaged in property

acquisition, development, construction and sale.

Real estate loan types include residential tract development, single-

unit home construction, retail shopping centers, apartment units,

industrial properties, flex buildings and office projects.

Commercial Banking
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Top: Abeer Srouji, Hampden Centre
Store Manager, and Frank Fischer,
Regional Vice President, join Versatile,
Inc. President Bob Joyce and Chairman
and CEO John Hardy (front) at the
technology firm’s office in Mechanicsburg,
Cumberland County. Commerce
provides Versatile with financing and
cash management services.

Bottom: Commerce financed a MAN
Roland press, the first extra-wide press
installed in North America, for Strine
Printing Company, Inc. in York. From
left: Strine Vice President of Finance
Joseph Speaker, Strine President and
CEO Mike Strine, Commerce Cash
Management Representative Susan
Nagorny and Regional Vice President
Harry Zimmerman.



Healthcare

Our commercial banking business includes specialized expertise for the

healthcare industry. We provide financing for acute care hospitals;

long-term care facilities including assisted living and skilled nursing;

outpatient and inpatient treatment centers; and physician practices.

Small Business

Commerce is a leading small

business lender. In fact, our 

loan activity consistently 

ranks us among the Top 10 

in the U.S. Small Business

Administration’s Philadelphia

District, which comprises 40

counties in the eastern half 

of Pennsylvania.

Our SBA Preferred Lender and

SBAExpress Lender status

enables us to expedite the

processing of SBA loans to meet

the needs of businesses that

may not have access to

conventional funding sources.

In 2005, Commerce provided

more than $13 million in SBA

financing, a 139% increase over

the prior year.

7

Forino Co., L.P., the largest homebuilder in
Berks County, turned to Commerce to finance
The Harvest, a single-family home development
in Ontelaunee Township. From left: Chief
Lending Officer Rory Ritrievi; Anthony Forino,
General Partner; and Eileen Hauptly, Controller.
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Commercial Banking

Starcom Paperworks, Inc., based in
Lancaster, is partnering with Commerce
to invest in new manufacturing
equipment to expand its world-class
stock form business. Pictured:
Commercial Loan Officer George
Gunnett and Starcom President 
Kevin Lederer.

Commercial Loan Officer Michael Bunn
stands with Bill and Shirl Brinser, owners
of Appalachian Insulation Supply, Inc., in
the company’s new 250,000-square-foot
warehouse financed by Commerce.
Located in Elizabethtown, Lancaster
County, AIS supplies insulation and
related products to customers from
Maine to Florida.



Cash Management

In 2005, cash management deposit balances reached $82.7 million, a

72% increase. Fueling our continued growth in this segment is deposits

credited up to 6 pm, next-day availability of funds, and the best cash

management services and tools available.

RapidDepositSM, our newest cash management product,

simplifies the daily collection process by enabling Customers 

to convert paper checks to electronic transactions from the

convenience of their own location.

Commerce TreasuryDirect® and EscrowDirectSM provide

Customers with single sign-on, single platform Internet-based

solutions for all their cash management needs.

Other hallmark Commerce Cash Management services include

lockbox services, positive pay, account reconcilement, direct

deposit payroll, electronic payment services, interest bearing

checking, merchant card processing and corporate credit cards.

Specialized Banking

Access to capital is an obstacle that too many minority and

women entrepreneurs experience. Commerce’s Specialized

Banking Group seeks to change that. 

As an SBA CommunityExpress Lender, we offer a loan program

specifically focused on minority and women entrepreneurs and

small businesses in economically disadvantaged areas. In

addition to financing, we connect borrowers with a network of

technical assistance to help guide them on a path of success.

Among the business counseling resources we partner with is

Harrisburg Area Community College’s Institute for Entrepreneurial

Studies (home to the college’s Business Start-up Center and Women’s

Marketplace), local chapters of SCORE and Murata Business Center, a

regional business incubator based in Carlisle.

The intent of our Specialized Banking initiative is to help bring out the

best in entrepreneurship from a more diverse range of people. 

21

Vice President of Cash Management
Claudia Boyer and Chief Retail Officer
David Skerpon visit Karns Food CEO
Scott D. Karns at the Karns store in
Mechanicsburg, Cumberland County.
Karns benefits from a number of
Commerce services including
TreasuryDirect®, a single sign-on,
Internet-based cash management system.



Unique Expertise

The pressure has never been greater for government and non-profit

entities to reduce expenditures without curtailing services.

By offering unique advantages and expertise, Commerce Bank’s

Government and Non-profit Banking professionals help these

organizations achieve the best return possible.

Government Banking

Commerce understands that government entities, with fiduciary

responsibility for taxpayer dollars, often have very special

requirements. Our Government Banking experts are singularly

experienced in addressing those needs.

Commerce’s Government Banking model features no fees, deposits

credited up to 6 pm, next-day availability of funds, no reserve

requirement and interest earned on every dollar deposited.

Among the governmental organizations that Commerce serves are

municipalities; school districts; municipal water, sewer and utility

authorities; county governments and authorities; community

colleges; state government agencies and authorities; and police 

and fire services.

In 2005, total public fund deposits grew 21%.

Non-profit Banking

A growing number of non-profit organizations are turning to

Commerce to help restructure their finances, reduce financing costs

and even uncover new sources of funding.

Our Non-profit Banking model, like our government model, features

no fees, deposits credited up to 6 pm, next-day availability of funds,

no reserve requirement and interest earned on every dollar deposited. 

Among the non-profit entities that Commerce serves are hospitals

and other medical service providers; social service providers; cultural

organizations; colleges and universities; and religious organizations.

In 2005, total non-profit fund deposits grew 86%.

Government and 
Non-profit Banking
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Visiting Nurse Association of Central
Pennsylvania, a non-profit home care
provider, benefits from Commerce’s no-
fee non-profit banking model. Pictured
(front to back): VNA Executive Director
Colleen Hickey, Non-profit Banking
Officer Andrew Gregiore and Store
Manager Richard Foster.



Unique Advantages:

• Fee-free deposit accounts

• No reserve requirement or compensating balance

• Interest on every dollar deposited

• Deposits credited up to 6 pm

• Next-day availability of funds 

7

From left: Central Dauphin School District Superintendent Dr.
John Scola, Government Banking Officer Audrey Hanna, District
Business Manager Karen McConnell and Senior Vice President,
Government/Non-profit Banking Officer Cleve Corner at Landis
Field. School districts are among the many government-related
entities that Commerce specializes in serving.

20
Y E A R S
of Legendary
Service



Doing Well by Doing Good

A strong sense of community is a significant part of Commerce Bank’s

culture. We are involved in communities where our Customers and

Team Members live and work in a variety of ways including financial

education, corporate giving and volunteerism. 

Financial Education

Commerce is improving financial literacy with CommerceWOW!Zone,

onsite and online “money sense for kids.”

More than 120 trained Commerce instructors provide free lessons for

young people in grades K-12. Lessons are customized for each grade

level and meet National Council of Teachers of Mathematics’

standards. During the past year, we presented to 123 schools

and organizations for a total of 425 classes reaching nearly

9,000 children. Financial education resources also are

available on Commerce’s web site at commercepc.com. 

Corporate Giving

Commerce’s Corporate Giving Program donates about 3% 

of the Bank’s prior-year, total pre-tax income to non-profit

initiatives annually. The program places an emphasis on 

civic and social improvement projects, health and human

services, cultural and arts organizations and education. 

In just the past three years, Commerce has donated in excess

of $1.1 million to charities and community service initiatives.

In 2005 alone, the Bank contributed more than $430,000 to hundreds

of non-profit organizations.

Volunteerism

Commerce connects Team Members with volunteer opportunities 

to help meet needs in the community year-round. We generously 

donate time, talent and our expertise. Last year, Commerce Team

Members participated in more than 40 cause-related events, adding 

up to more than 400 instances of community volunteerism.

In the Community
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Top: Commerce Team Members proudly
wear Commerce apparel to show their
company spirit whenever they
participate in community events. 

Bottom: At every Grand Opening,
Commerce makes a donation to a local
community organization such as Olivet
Boys and Girls Club in Reading.
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Right: Commerce’s corporate giving places
an emphasis on educational initiatives like
the Spanish American Civic Association’s 
La Academia School in Lancaster. 

Below: Students from Hoover Elementary 
in Camp Hill, PA, were among the many
individuals and groups that participated in
Commerce’s “Coins for Caring” campaign 
in the wake of Hurricane Katrina.

Above: Commerce earned first place 
in the first-ever “Spike Hunger Volleyball
Tournament,” a fundraiser for CHANNELS
Food Rescue. 

Left: Commerce Team Members led the
pack in the annual Harrisburg Mile, which
raises funds to benefit Harrisburg YMCA
youth programs.



Board of Directors
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(Left to right): Douglas S. Gelder, James R. Adair, Samir J. Srouji, MD, Peter J. Ressler, Gary L. Nalbandian, Alan R. Hassman, 
John J. Cardello, Howell C. Mette, Michael A. Serluco

Gary L. Nalbandian
Chairman, President and CEO
Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc.

James R. Adair
President/CEO
Adair Construction Services, Inc.

John J. Cardello, CPA
Partner
Seligman, Friedman & Company, P.C.

Douglas S. Gelder
Owner/President
DSG Development

Alan R. Hassman
President
ARH, Inc. and Keystone 
Lodging Enterprises, Inc.

Howell C. Mette
Senior Partner 
Mette, Evans & Woodside

Peter J. Ressler (Secretary to the Board)
Attorney
Mette, Evans & Woodside

Michael A. Serluco
Owner
Consolidated Properties

Samir J. Srouji, MD
Owner
Plastic Surgery, P.C.



27

Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc.
Selected Consolidated Financial Data

At or For the Year Ended December 31,

(dollars in thousands, except per share data) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Balance Sheet Data:

Total assets  $1,641,121  $1,277,367  $1,051,989  $786,598  $609,890
Loans held for sale  10,585  14,287  9,164  10,514  7,661
Loans receivable (net)  815,439  638,496  469,937  363,735  338,130
Securities available for sale  380,836  314,065  275,400  205,436  104,722
Securities held to maturity  306,266  209,917  199,863  97,625  103,349
Federal funds sold  0  12,000  0  44,500  4,300
Deposits  1,371,062  1,160,547  906,527  726,955  561,738
Short-term borrowings and long-term debt  171,500  13,600  79,000  0  0
Trust capital securities  0  0  13,000  13,000  13,000
Stockholders’ equity  91,643  85,039  49,724  42,812  32,593

Income Statement Data:

Net interest income  $ 50,905  $ 46,585  $ 33,890  $ 27,701  $ 22,054
Provision for loan losses  1,560  2,646  1,695  1,435  1,469
Noninterest income  14,156  11,296  9,990  7,707  6,607
Noninterest operating expenses  50,403  42,466  32,510  25,428  20,512
Income before income taxes  13,098  12,769  9,675  8,545  6,680
Net income  8,817  8,591  6,557  5,674  4,448

Common Share Data:

Net income per share: Basic  $ 1.47  $ 1.75  $ 1.44  $ 1.29  $ 1.07
Diluted  1.38  1.63  1.34  1.18  0.97

Book Value per share 15.07  14.31  10.62  9.40  7.61

Selected Ratios:

Performance:
Return on average assets 0.61%  0.73%  0.74%  0.81%  0.82%
Return on average stockholders’ equity  9.91  14.78  14.27  14.86  14.85
Net interest margin 3.77  4.28  4.20  4.29  4.40

Liquidity and Capital:
Average loans to average deposits  58.87%  57.20%  52.23%  56.91%  63.25%
Average stockholders’ equity to

average total assets 6.12  4.96  5.22  5.49  5.54
Risk based capital: Tier 1  9.79  11.57  9.57  11.16  10.22

Total  10.61  12.49  10.49  12.22  11.78
Leverage capital 6.69  7.79  6.19  7.00  7.33

Asset Quality:
Net charge-offs to average loans outstanding 0.02% 0.14% 0.20% 0.23% 0.21%
Non-performing loans to total year-end loans 0.31 0.13  0.25  0.45  0.26
Non-performing assets to total year-end assets 0.16 0.11 0.13  0.23  0.15
Allowance for loan losses to total year-end loans 1.12 1.21 1.26 1.40 1.33
Allowance for loan losses to non-performing loans  364  916  513  311  519
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations analyzes the major elements of our
consolidated balance sheets and statements of income. This sec-
tion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated finan-
cial statements and accompanying notes.

Executive Summary

Our competitive strategy utilizes a retail model, which is
built on the gathering and retention of low cost core de-
posits. Management believes deposit growth continues to
be the primary driver of our success and that service and a
superior retail experience, not interest rates, drive deposit
growth. The consistent growth of low cost, long-term de-
posit relationships allows us to focus our investments on
less risky loans and securities. In addition, our significant
cash flow allows us ongoing reinvestment opportunities
as interest rates change.

Total deposits increased $210.5 million from $1.16 billion
at December 31, 2004 to $1.37 billion at December 31,
2005. The growth in total deposits was due to a combina-
tion of growth from five new stores that opened between
October 2004 and October 2005 and from same store de-
posit growth of $167.4 million, or 12%. We measure same
store deposit growth as the annual percentage increase
in core deposits for stores open two years or more. As of
December 31, 2005, 23 of our 28 stores had been open for
two years or more. Our core deposits include all deposits
except for public fund time deposits.

During 2005, our total net loans (including loans held for
sale) increased by $173.2 million from $652.8 million as
of December 31, 2004 to $826.0 million at December 31,
2005. This growth was represented across all loan catego-
ries, reflecting a continuing commitment to the credit
needs of our market areas. We have taken great strides over
the past 3 years to strengthen the structure and depth of
our lending function and we believe that the growth in
total loans is a result of these efforts. In recent years, there
has been significant consolidation in financial institutions
in our market areas. We believe this consolidation has
caused dislocation, and therefore has provided us with the
opportunity to gain customers and hire experienced local
banking professionals. Our average loan to average deposit
ratio at December 31, 2005 was 58.9%, as compared to
57.2% as of December 31, 2004.

During 2005 our total assets grew by $363.8 million from
$1.28 billion at December 31, 2004 to $1.64 billion as of
December 31, 2005. During this same time period, inter-
est earning assets (primarily loans and investments) in-
creased by $337.8 million from $1.20 billion to $1.54
billion. The growth in earning assets was funded by the
previously mentioned deposit growth of $210.5 million
plus short-term borrowings of $157.9 million.

The year was marked by a rare interest rate environment
in which long-term rates had the same level of yields as
did short-term rates. Characterized as a “flat” yield curve,
the unique rate environment affected banks nationwide,
including Commerce, adding pressure to our net interest
margin and constraining our historical net interest income
growth. We feel this net interest margin compression is a
short-term hurdle and we remain committed to the expan-
sion of the Commerce Bank Model and to delivering leg-
endary service to our Customers. In the fourth quarter, we
utilized the flat yield curve to reposition approximately $48
million of our investment portfolio from fixed to floating
rates, a protective measure against further net interest mar-
gin compression. In doing so, we incurred an after-tax
charge of $567,000, or $0.09 per share. Additionally, we
accelerated the vesting of all prior stock options in the
fourth quarter, leaving us with no legacy stock option ex-
pense for 2006 and beyond.

Net interest income grew by $4.3 million, or 9%, over 2004
due to the increased volume in interest earning assets par-
tially offset by the impact of net interest margin compres-
sion brought on by the flat yield curve. Total revenues (net
interest income plus noninterest income) increased by $7.2
million, or 12%, in 2005 compared to 2004 and net in-
come increased by 3% from $8.6 million to $8.8 million.
Excluding the impact of the investment portfolio reposi-
tioning and stock option acceleration, which together to-
taled $612,000, net of tax, or $0.10 per share, our net
income grew 10% to $9.4 million. The increase was
achieved despite the challenging rate environment and the
costs associated with opening four new stores during the
year. Earnings per share were down 15% to $1.38. Exclud-
ing the same above mentioned charges, earnings per share
were $1.48, down 9% from the previous year. This reflects
the impact of a 21% increase in the number of average
shares outstanding in 2005 versus the prior year, prima-
rily the result of a public stock offering in the fourth quar-
ter of 2004.

The financial highlights for 2005 compared to 2004 are
summarized below.

                  December 31, %
2005 2004 Change

(dollars in millions)
Total Assets $1,641.1 $1,277.4      28 %
Total Loans (Net) 815.4 638.5      28 %
Total Deposits 1,371.1 1,160.5      18 %

                   December 31, %
2005 2004 Change

(dollars in millions except per share data)
Total Revenues $ 65.1 $ 57.9      12 %
Net Income 8.8 8.6        3 %
Diluted Net Income Per Share 1.38 1.63    (15)%
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We expect that we will continue our pattern of expanding
our footprint by branching into contiguous areas of our
existing markets, and by filling gaps between existing store
locations. We opened four stores in 2005, giving us a total
of 28 full-service stores as of December 31, 2005. We are
targeting to open approximately 30 new stores over the
next six years. In addition, to accommodate our growth,
we constructed a new Headquarters, Operations and Train-
ing Center in Harrisburg, PA, which we expect to open at
the end of the first quarter of 2006. The total anticipated
cost to construct and furnish this new building will be ap-
proximately $19.0 million. As a result of our targeted
growth, we expect that expenses related to salaries, em-
ployee benefits, occupancy, furniture and equipment, and
advertising will increase in subsequent periods. Our long-
range plan targets a total of 59 stores by the end of 2011.
We believe that the demographics of the South Central
Pennsylvania market should provide significant opportu-
nities for us to continue to grow both deposit and lending
relationships.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Our accounting policies are fundamental to understand-
ing Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations. Our accounting poli-
cies are more fully described in Note 1 of the Notes to Con-
solidated Financial Statements for December 31, 2005
included herein. Our consolidated financial statements are
prepared in conformity with accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America. These prin-
ciples require our management to make estimates and
assumptions about future events that affect the amounts
reported in our consolidated financial statements and ac-
companying notes. Since future events and their effects
cannot be determined with absolute certainty, actual re-
sults may differ from those estimates. Management makes
adjustments to its assumptions and estimates when facts
and circumstances dictate. We evaluate our estimates and
assumptions on an ongoing basis and predicate those esti-
mates and assumptions on historical experience and on
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Management believes the follow-
ing critical accounting policies encompass the more sig-
nificant assumptions and estimates used in preparation of
our consolidated financial statements.

Allowance for Loan Losses.  The allowance for loan losses
represents the amount available for estimated probable
losses existing in our lending portfolio. While the allow-
ance for loan losses is maintained at a level believed to be
adequate by management for estimated losses in the loan
portfolio, the determination of the allowance is inherently
subjective, as it involves significant estimates by manage-
ment, all of which may be susceptible to significant change.

While management uses available information to make
such evaluations, future adjustments to the allowance and
the provision for loan losses may be necessary if economic
conditions or loan credit quality differ substantially from
the estimates and assumptions used in making the evalu-
ations. The use of different assumptions could materially
impact the level of the allowance for loan losses and, there-
fore, the provision for loan losses to be charged against
earnings.  Such changes could impact future results.

We perform monthly, systematic reviews of our loan port-
folios to identify inherent losses and assess the overall prob-
ability of collection. These reviews include an analysis of
historical default and loss experience, which results in the
identification and quantification of loss factors. These loss
factors are used in determining the appropriate level of al-
lowance to cover the estimated probable losses existing in
each lending category. Management judgment involving
the estimates of loss factors can be impacted by many vari-
ables, such as the number of years of actual default and
loss history included in the evaluation and the volatility
of forecasted net credit losses.

The methodology used to determine the appropriate level
of the allowance for loan losses and related provisions dif-
fers for commercial and consumer loans, and involves other
overall evaluations. In addition, significant estimates are
involved in the determination of the appropriate level of
allowance related to impaired loans. The portion of the
allowance related to impaired loans is based on discounted
cash flows using the loan’s effective interest rate, or the
fair value of the collateral for collateral-dependent loans,
or the observable market price of the impaired loan. Each
of these variables involves judgment and the use of esti-
mates. For instance, discounted cash flows are based on
estimates of the amount and timing of expected future cash
flows.

In addition to periodic estimation and testing of loss fac-
tors, we periodically evaluate changes in levels and trends
of charge-offs, delinquencies and nonaccrual loans, trends
in volume and term loans, changes in underwriting stan-
dards and practices, portfolio mix, tenure of the loan of-
ficers and management, changes in credit concentrations,
and national and local economic trends and conditions.
Management judgment is involved at many levels of these
evaluations.

An integral aspect of our risk management process is allo-
cating the allowance for loan losses to various components
of the lending portfolio based upon an analysis of risk char-
acteristics, demonstrated losses, industry and other segmen-
tations, and other more judgmental factors, such as recent
loss experience, industry concentrations, and the impact
of current economic conditions on historical or forecasted
net credit losses.
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Stock-Based Compensation.  As permitted by FASB Statement
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (FAS
123), we have historically accounted for stock-based com-
pensation in accordance with Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employ-
ees” (APB 25). The pro forma impact to net income and
earnings per share that would occur if compensation ex-
pense was recognized, based on the estimated fair value of
the options on the date of grant, is disclosed in Note 1 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for De-
cember 31, 2005.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) issued Statement No. 123(R), “Share-Based
Payment,” (FAS 123(R)). FAS 123(R) revised FAS 123 and
supersedes APB 25, and its related implementation guid-
ance. FAS 123(R) requires compensation costs related to
share-based payments to be recognized in the income state-
ments (with limited exceptions) based on their fair values
and no longer allows pro forma disclosure as an alterna-
tive to reflecting the impact of share-based payments on
net income and net income per share. The amount of com-
pensation cost will be measured based on the grant-date
fair value of the stock-based compensation issued. Com-
pensation cost will be recognized over the period that an
employee provides service in exchange for the award. This
statement is effective as of the beginning of the first in-
terim or annual reporting period that begins after June 15,
2005 and permits public companies to adapt its require-
ment using one of two methods: modified prospective or
modified retrospective. The Company adopted FAS 123(R)
effective January 1, 2006.

In October 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”)
FAS 123(R)-2, “Practical Accommodation to the Application
of Grant Date as Defined in FAS 123(R)”. FSP 123(R)-2 pro-
vides guidance on the application of grant date as defined
in FAS 123(R). In accordance with this standard a grant
date of an award exists if a) the award is a unilateral grant
and b) the key terms and conditions of the award are ex-
pected to be communicated to an individual recipient
within a relatively short time period from the date of ap-
proval. We will adopt this standard when we adopt FAS
123(R), and it will not have a material impact on our con-
solidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.

In November 2005, the FASB issued final FSP FAS
No. 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related to Accounting
for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards.” The
FSP provides an alternative method of calculating excess
tax benefits (the Additional Paid-in Capital “APIC” pool)
from the method defined in FAS 123(R) for share-based
payments. A one-time election to adopt the transition
method in this FSP is available to those entities adopting
FAS 123(R) using either the modified retrospective or modi-
fied prospective method. Up to one year from the initial

adoption of FAS 123(R) or effective date of the FSP is pro-
vided to make this one-time election. However, until an
entity makes its election, it must follow the guidance in
FAS 123(R). FSP 123(R)-3 is effective upon initial adoption
of FAS 123(R) and will become effective for the Company
in the first quarter of fiscal 2006. We are currently evaluat-
ing the potential impact of calculating the APIC pool with
this alternative method and have not yet determined
which method we will adopt, or the expected impact on
our financial position or results of operations.

Results of Operations

Average Balances and Average Interest Rates

Table 1 on the following page sets forth balance sheet items
on a daily average basis for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003 and presents the daily average inter-
est rates earned on assets and the daily average interest rates
paid on liabilities for such periods. During 2005, average
interest-earning assets were $1.35 billion, an increase of
$262.4 million, or 24%, over 2004. This was the result of
an increase in the average balance of investment securi-
ties of $116.8 million and an increase in the average bal-
ance of loans receivable of $149.1 million, offset by a
decrease in the average balance of federal funds sold of
$3.5 million. The growth in the average balance of inter-
est earning assets was funded primarily by an increase in
the average balance of deposits (including noninterest bear-
ing demand deposits) of $224.5 million.

The tax-equivalent yield on total interest-earning assets in-
creased by 29 basis points, from 5.63% in 2004 to 5.92%
in 2005. This increase was mostly due to the increasing
rate environment during 2005 which contributed toward
higher yields on our floating rate loans, which comprise
34% of our loan portfolio.

The aggregate cost of interest-bearing liabilities increased
97 basis points from 1.55% in 2004 to 2.52% in 2005. The
average rate paid on savings deposits increased by 54 basis
points, from 1.01% in 2004 to 1.55% in 2005. The average
rate paid on interest checking accounts increased from
0.85% in 2004 to 1.96% in 2005. The average rate paid on
money market accounts, comprised of money market ac-
counts and interest checking accounts that are swept over-
night to money market balances, increased from 1.25% in
2004 to 2.52% in 2005. At December 31, 2005, $337.2 mil-
lion of the sweep accounts were public fund interest check-
ing accounts that are priced in relation to the yield on the
90-day treasury bill, which increased from 2.22% at De-
cember 31, 2004 to 4.08% at December 31, 2005. For time
deposits, the average rate paid was 2.97%, up 53 basis
points from 2004 and public funds time deposits incurred
an increase of 135 basis points in 2005 on the average rate
paid. The majority of our public funds are deposits of lo-
cal school districts and municipalities.
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Our aggregate cost of funding sources increased 80 basis
points in 2005 to 2.12% from 1.32% in 2004. This increase
resulted primarily from higher average rates paid on total
interest bearing deposits. In Table 1, nonaccrual loans have
been included in the average loan balances. Securities in-

clude securities available for sale and securities held to
maturity. Securities available for sale are carried at amor-
tized cost for purposes of calculating the average rate re-
ceived on taxable securities. Yields on tax-exempt securities
and loans are computed on a taxable-equivalent basis.

TABLE 1

Year Ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Average Average Average Average Average Average
Earning Assets Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate

Securities:
Taxable $   615,779 $30,822 5.01% $ 498,016 $24,789    4.98% $361,323 $17,108  4.73%
Tax-exempt 5,887 538 9.14 6,838 608    8.89 6,444 686 10.65

Total securities 621,666 31,360 5.04 504,854 25,397 5.03 367,767 17,794    4.84
Federal funds sold 148 5 3.38 3,638 67 1.84 20,653 220 1.07
Loans receivable:

Mortgage and
construction 392,697 26,328    6.70 337,257 21,777    6.46 263,581 18,290    6.94

Commercial loans and
lines of credit 193,779 13,474    6.95 144,127 8,534    5.92 95,469 5,937    6.22

Consumer 134,004 8,147    6.08 93,166 5,122    5.50 54,840 3,318    6.05
Tax-exempt 9,218 638    6.92 6,095 442    7.25 5,093 327    6.42

Total loans receivable 729,698 48,587    6.66 580,645 35,875    6.18 418,983 27,872    6.65

Total earning assets $1,351,512 $79,952 5.92% $1,089,137 $61,339    5.63% $807,403 $45,886    5.68%

Sources of Funds
Interest-bearing deposits:

Regular savings $   325,218 $ 5,043    1.55% $ 276,862 $  2,804    1.01% $234,431 $  2,381    1.02%
Interest checking 27,201 533    1.96 19,464 166    0.85 14,760 103    0.70
Money market 452,109 11,408    2.52 327,748 4,098    1.25 230,504 2,104    0.91
Time deposits 179,428 5,330    2.97 164,765 4,024    2.44 133,196 4,584    3.44
Public funds time 34,992 1,094    3.13 45,855 817    1.78 46,562 917    1.97

Total interest-
bearing  deposits 1,018,948 23,408    2.30 834,694 11,909    1.43 659,453 10,089    1.53

Short-term borrowings 105,620 3,821    3.62 79,049 1,070    1.35 16,964 207    1.22
Long-term debt 13,600 1,418  10.43 13,600 1,418  10.43 13,000 1,356  10.43
Total interest-

bearing liabilities 1,138,168 28,647    2.52 927,343 14,397    1.55 689,417 11,652    1.69
Noninterest-bearing

funds (net) 213,344 161,794 117,986

Total sources to
fund assets $1,351,512 $28,647    2.12% $1,089,137 $14,397    1.32% $807,403 $11,652    1.44%

Net interest income and
margin on a tax-
equivalent basis $51,305    3.80% $46,942    4.31% $34,234    4.24%

Tax-exempt adjustment 400 357 344
Net interest income and

margin $50,905    3.77% $46,585    4.28% $33,890    4.20%

Other Balances
Cash & due from banks $ 42,225 $ 35,285 $ 28,390
Other assets 58,837 47,161 45,369
Total assets 1,452,574 1,171,583 881,162
Noninterest-bearing

demand deposits 220,566 180,355 142,805
Other liabilities 4,889 5,750 2,983
Stockholders’ equity 88,951 58,135 45,957
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Net Interest Income and Net Interest Margin

Net interest income is the difference between interest in-
come on loans, investment securities, and other interest-
earning assets and the interest expense paid on deposits
and borrowed funds. Changes in net interest income and
net interest margin result from the interaction between the
volume and composition of earning assets, related yields
and associated funding costs. Net interest income is our
primary source of earnings. There are several factors that
affect net interest income, including:

• the volume, pricing mix, and maturity of earning assets
and interest-bearing liabilities;

• market interest rate fluctuations; and

• asset quality.

Net interest income on a tax-equivalent basis (which ad-
justs for the tax-exempt status of income earned on cer-
tain loans and investment securities in order to show such
income as if it were taxable) for 2005 increased $4.3 mil-
lion, or 9%, over 2004 to $50.9 million. Interest income
on a tax-equivalent basis totaled $80.0 million, an increase
of $18.6 million, or 30%, over 2004. The majority of this

increase was related to volume increases in the investment
securities and loans receivable portfolios. Interest expense
for 2005 increased $14.2 million, or 99%, from $14.4 mil-
lion in 2004 to $28.6 million in 2005. This increase was
related to both the increases in deposit and short-term bor-
rowing rates paid in addition to the increase in the aver-
age level of deposits and other borrowed money.

Changes in net interest income are frequently measured
by two statistics: net interest rate spread and net interest
margin. Net interest rate spread is the difference between
the average rate earned on earning assets and the average
rate incurred on interest-bearing liabilities. Net interest
margin represents the difference between interest income,
including net loan fees earned, and interest expense, re-
flected as a percentage of average earning assets. Our net
interest rate spread decreased to 3.40% in 2005 from 4.08%
in 2004 on a fully taxable-equivalent basis. The net inter-
est margin decreased 51 basis points from 4.28% in 2004
to 3.77% in 2005.

In late June 2004, the Federal Reserve Board began a mea-
sured reversal of their accommodative stance on monetary
policy that had been in place over the previous three years.
The targeted federal funds rate began increasing in the sec-

TABLE 2

2005 v. 2004 2004 v. 2003
Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)

Due to Changes in (1) Due to Changes in (1)

(in thousands) Volume Rate Total Volume Rate Total

Interest on securities:
Taxable $ 5,907 $ 126 $ 6,033 $ 6,814 $ 867 $ 7,681
Tax-exempt (87) 17 (70) 34 (112) (78)

Federal funds sold (118) 56 (62) (312) 159 (153)
Interest on loans receivable:

Mortgage and construction 3,727 824 4,551 4,752 (1,265) 3,487
Commercial 3,451 1,489 4,940 2,883 (286) 2,597
Consumer 2,485 540 3,025 2,106 (302) 1,804
Tax-exempt 216 (20) 196 73 42 115

Total interest income 15,581 3,032 18,613 16,350 (897) 15,453

Interest on deposits:
Regular savings 742 1,497 2,239 446 (23) 423
Interest checking 151 216 367 41 22 63
Money market 3,137 4,173 7,310 1,210 784 1,994
Time deposits 432 874 1,306 772 (1,332) (560)
Public funds (340) 617 277 (12) (88) (100)

Short-term borrowings 958 1,793 2,751 841 22 863
Long-term debt 0 0 0 62 0 62

Total interest expense 5,080 9,170 14,250 3,360 (615) 2,745

Net increase (decrease) $10,501 $(6,138) $ 4,363 $12,990 $ (282) $12,708

(1) Changes due to both volume and rate have been allocated to volume changes.
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ond half of 2004 and the trend continued throughout
2005. The federal funds rate increased 200 basis points in
2005. As a result, our cost of funds significantly increased
during this period however we did not experience a simi-
lar increase in the yields on our interest earning assets due
to the continued flattening yield curve throughout the year.
We would not expect to see expansion in the net interest
margin until long-term interest rates increase and/or the
yield curve steepens.

Table 2 demonstrates the relative impact on net interest
income of changes in the volume of earning assets and
interest-bearing liabilities and changes in rates earned and
paid by us on such assets and liabilities. For purposes of
this table, nonaccrual loans have been included in the av-
erage loan balances and tax-exempt loans and securities
have been reported on a fully tax-equivalent basis.

Provision for Loan Losses

We recorded $1.6 million to the allowance for loan losses
in 2005 as compared to $2.6 million in 2004. Management
undertakes a rigorous and consistently applied process in
order to evaluate the allowance for loan losses and to de-
termine the level of provision for loan losses. Net charge-
offs during 2005 were only $176,000, or 0.02%, of average
loans outstanding as compared to $806,000, or 0.14%, of
average loans outstanding in 2004. See the Application of
Critical Accounting Policies section in this Management’s
Discussion and Analysis regarding the allowance for loan
losses as well as Note 1 in the Notes to Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements for December 31, 2005 included herein for
further discussion regarding our methodology for determin-
ing the provision for loan losses.

Noninterest Income

Noninterest income for 2005 increased by $2.9 million, or
25%, over 2004 to $14.2 million. The increase was prima-
rily due to increases in other operating income attribut-
able to service charges and fees associated with servicing a
higher volume of deposit and loan accounts. Included in
total noninterest income in 2005 were gains of $1.3 mil-
lion on the sale of residential loans, student loans, small
business administration loans, and business and industry
loans offset by a net loss on the sale of securities of $60,000.
Included in total noninterest income in 2004 were gains
of $630,000 on the sale of residential and student loans.

Noninterest Expenses

Noninterest expenses totaled $50.4 million for 2005, an
increase of $7.9 million, or 19%, over 2004. Staffing lev-
els, occupancy, furniture and equipment, and related ex-
penses increased as a result of opening four full service
stores in 2005 and one full service store in late 2004. A

comparison of noninterest expenses for certain categories
for 2005 and 2004 is presented below.

Salary expenses and employee benefits, which represent
the largest component of noninterest expenses, increased
by $4.4 million, or 20%, in 2005 over 2004. The increased
level of these expenses includes the impact of salary and
benefit costs associated with the 37% increase in the level
of full-time equivalent employees to 787 at December 31,
2005 from 576 at December 31, 2004. Included in this in-
crease is the additional staff hired to operate the new stores
opened in April 2005, July 2005, August 2005, and Octo-
ber 2005.

Occupancy expenses totaled $5.4 million in 2005, an in-
crease of $1.0 million, or 23%, over 2004 while furniture
and equipment expenses increased by $230,000, or 9%, to
$2.7 million. The full year impact of the one store opened
in 2004 along with the additional four stores opened in
2005 contributed to the increases in occupancy and furni-
ture and equipment expenses in 2005 over 2004. In late
March 2006, we will discontinue leasing two facilities that
currently house the majority of our executive, lending, fi-
nancial and operational staff departments and relocate ap-
proximately 300 employees to Commerce Center, our new
Headquarters, Operations and Training Center. Discontin-
ued occupancy and furniture expenses associated with the
two existing facilities will partially offset higher levels of
expense associated with the new building and its furniture
and equipment.

Advertising and marketing expenses were $3.5 million for
2005, an increase of $353,000, or 11%, over 2004. The in-
crease was primarily the result of grand opening expenses
associated with four new stores in 2005. Our advertising
markets include Berks, Lebanon, Dauphin, Cumberland,
and York Counties of South Central Pennsylvania.

Data processing expenses increased by $921,000, or 32%,
in 2005 over 2004. The primary increases were due to costs
associated with processing additional transactions as a re-
sult of growth in the number of accounts serviced, the costs
associated with additional stores, adding additional elec-
tronic products and services for customer use and enhance-
ments to existing services.

Postage and supplies expenses of $1.3 million were
$167,000, or 15%, higher than the prior year. The increase
was attributed to the growth in the number of account
statements mailed to customers.

Other noninterest expenses totaled $7.4 million for 2005,
compared to $6.6 million for 2004. Components of the
increase include expenses related to: insurance, ATM fee
refunds, travel, customer relations, and costs associated
with compliance with Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
offset by a decrease in foreclosed real estate expenses.
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Our current strategic plan calls for the construction of four
new stores in 2006, one which will result in the relocation
of our Main Office to a newly built store in Lemoyne,
Cumberland County, Pennsylvania. In addition, we are
completing the construction of our new Headquarters,
Operations and Training Center in Harrisburg. The costs
associated with these planned facilities will continue to
result in higher levels of staff, occupancy, furniture, equip-
ment, and related expenses in 2006 and in future periods.

One key measure used to monitor progress in controlling
overhead expenses is the ratio of net noninterest expenses
to average assets.  For purposes of this calculation, net
noninterest expenses equal noninterest expenses less
noninterest income (exclusive of gains or losses on sales
of investment securities). This ratio equaled 2.52% for 2005,
compared to 2.66% for 2004. Another productivity mea-
sure is the operating efficiency ratio. This ratio expresses
the relationship of noninterest expenses to net interest in-
come plus noninterest income (excluding gains or losses
on sales of investment securities). For 2005, the operating
efficiency ratio was 77.9% compared to 73.4% for 2004.
Our operating efficiency ratio remains above our peer group
primarily due to our aggressive growth expansion activi-
ties.

Provision for Federal Income Taxes

The provision for federal income taxes was $4.3 million
for 2005, compared to $4.2 million for 2004. The effective
tax rate, which is the ratio of income tax expense to in-
come before taxes, was 32.7% in both 2005 and 2004. See
Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for December 31, 2005, included herein, for an additional
analysis of the provision for income taxes for 2005 and
2004.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 109 (SFAS No. 109), “Accounting for Income
Taxes”, income taxes are accounted for under the liability
method. Under the liability method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences attrib-
utable to temporary differences between the financial state-
ment and tax bases of existing assets and liabilities.

At December 31, 2005, deferred tax assets amounted to $5.5
million and deferred tax liabilities amounted to $1.8 mil-
lion. Deferred tax assets are realizable primarily through
carryback of existing deductible temporary differences to
recover taxes paid in prior years, and through future re-
versal of existing taxable temporary differences. Manage-
ment currently anticipates future earnings will be adequate
to utilize the net deferred tax assets.

Net Income and Net Income Per Share

Net income for 2005 was $8.8 million, an increase of
$226,000, or 3%, over the $8.6 million recorded in 2004.
This increase was due to an increase in net interest income
of $4.3 million, an increase in noninterest income of $2.9
million, and a decrease in the provision for loan losses of
$1.1 million, partially offset by an increase in noninterest
expenses of $7.9 million.

Basic earnings per common share were $1.47 in 2005 com-
pared to $1.75 in 2004. Diluted earnings per common share
were $1.38 for 2005 and $1.63 for 2004. As previously men-
tioned, the decrease in earnings per share reflects the im-
pact of a 21% increase in the number of average shares
outstanding in 2005 versus the prior year, primarily the
result of our public stock offering in the fourth quarter of
2004. See Note 13 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for December 31, 2005, included herein, for an
analysis of earnings per share.

Return on Average Assets and Average Equity

Return on average assets, referred to as “ROA,” measures
our net income in relation to our total average assets. Our
ROA was 0.61% for 2005 and 0.73% for 2004. This decrease
is the result of 28% growth in total assets combined with
a 3% increase in net income. Contributing to these results
was the deployment of $12.8 million of funds to the con-
struction of our new Headquarters, Operations and Train-
ing Center as opposed to channeling these funds into
interest-earning assets as well as the addition of the new
stores in 2005 and 2004 and their related costs.

Return on average equity, referred to as “ROE,” indicates
how effectively we can generate net income on the capital
invested by our shareholders. ROE is calculated by divid-
ing net income by average stockholders’ equity. ROE for
2005 was 9.91%, compared to 14.78% for 2004. As ex-
pected, ROE was impacted due to the volume of additional
equity capital raised during the fourth quarter of 2004
through our public stock offering.

Results of Operations

2004 versus 2003

Net income for 2004 rose to $8.6 million, an increase of
$2.0 million, or 31%, over the $6.6 million recorded in
2003.

Diluted earnings per common share increased by 22% to
$1.63 for 2004 over $1.34 for 2003 after adjusting for the
5% common stock dividends declared in January 2004 and
the 2-for-1 stock split declared in January 2005.
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Net interest income for 2004 increased $12.7 million, or
37%, over 2003 to $46.6 million. Interest income on earn-
ing assets totaled $61.0 million, an increase of $15.4 mil-
lion, or 34%, over 2003. Interest expense for 2004 increased
by $2.7 million, or 24%, from $11.7 million to $14.4 mil-
lion.

Our net interest rate spread increased to 4.08% in 2004
from 3.99% in 2003 and the net interest margin increased
8 basis points from 4.20% to 4.28%.

Noninterest income for 2004 increased by $1.3 million, or
13%, over 2003 to $11.3 million. Included in total
noninterest income were gains on the sale of residential
and student loans of $630,000 in 2004 and $765,000 in
2003 and a gain on the sale of securities in 2003 of
$880,000.

Noninterest expenses totaled $42.5 million for 2004, an
increase of $10.0 million, or 31%, over 2003. Staffing lev-
els, occupancy, furniture and equipment, and related ex-
penses increased as a result of opening one full service store
in 2004 and five full service stores in the second half of
2003.

Salary expenses and employee benefits increased by $5.1
million, or 31%, in 2004 over 2003. This increase was par-
tially due to an increase in the level of full-time equiva-
lent employees from 503 at December 31, 2003 to 576 at
year-end 2004.

Occupancy expenses totaled $4.4 million in 2004, an in-
crease of $955,000, or 28%, over 2003 while furniture and
equipment expenses increased by $659,000, or 36%, to $2.5
million.

Advertising and marketing expenses were $3.1 million for
2004, an increase of $683,000, or 28%, over 2003. Data
processing expenses increased by $774,000, or 36%, in 2004
over 2003. Postage and supplies expenses of $1.1 million
were $155,000, or 16%, higher than the prior year.

Other noninterest expenses totaled $6.6 million for 2004,
compared to $5.0 million for 2003.

Financial Condition

Securities

Securities are purchased and sold as part of our overall as-
set and liability management function. The classification
of all securities is determined at the time of purchase. Se-
curities expected to be held for an indefinite period of time
are classified as securities available for sale and are carried
at fair value. Decisions by management to purchase or sell
these securities are based on an assessment of financial and
economic conditions, including changes in prepayment
risks and interest rates, liquidity needs, capital adequacy,

collateral requirements for pledging, alternative asset and
liability management strategies, tax considerations, and
regulatory requirements.

Securities are classified as held to maturity if, at the time
of purchase, management has both the intent and ability
to hold the securities until maturity. Securities held to ma-
turity are carried at amortized cost. Sales of securities in
this portfolio should only occur in unusual and rare situa-
tions where significant unforeseeable changes in circum-
stances may cause a change in intent. Examples of such
instances would include deterioration in the issuer’s cred-
itworthiness that is evidently supportable and significant
or a change in tax law that eliminates or reduces the tax-
exempt status of interest (but not the revision of marginal
tax rates applicable to interest income). Held to maturity
securities cannot be sold based upon any of the decisions
used to sell securities available for sale as listed above. See
Note 3 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
December 31, 2005, included herein, for further analysis
of our securities portfolio.

Our investment securities portfolio consists primarily of
U.S. Government agency and mortgage-backed obligations.
These securities have very little, if any, credit risk because
they are either backed by the full faith and credit of the
U.S. Government, their principal and interest payments
are guaranteed by an agency of the U.S. Government, or
they are AAA rated. The majority of these investment se-
curities carry fixed rate coupons that do not change over
the life of the securities. Since most securities are purchased
at premiums or discounts, their yield and average life will
change depending on any change in the estimated rate of
prepayments. We amortize premiums and accrete discounts
over the estimated average life of the securities. Changes
in the estimated average life of the securities portfolio will
lengthen or shorten the period in which the premium or
discount must be amortized or accreted, thus affecting our
securities yields. For the year ended December 31, 2005,
the yield on our securities portfolio was 5.04%, up 1 basis
point from 5.03% in 2004.

At December 31, 2005, the weighted average life and du-
ration of our securities portfolio was approximately 4.9 and
3.9 years, respectively, as compared to 5.1 years and 4.2
years, respectively, at December 31, 2004. The weighted
average life of the portfolio is calculated by estimating the
average rate of repayment of the underlying collateral of
each security. Mortgage-backed obligations historically ex-
perience repayment rates in excess of the scheduled repay-
ments, causing a shorter weighted average life of the
security. Our securities portfolio contained no “high-risk”
securities or derivatives as of December 31, 2005 or 2004.

Securities available for sale increased by $73.4 million in
2005 (excluding the effect of changes in unrealized gains
or losses) primarily as a result in purchases of $224.4 mil-
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lion, offset by principal repayments and maturities of
$94.1 million and sales of $55.3 million. The securities
available for sale portfolio is comprised of U.S. Government
Agency securities, mortgage-backed securities, and AAA
Whole Loan CMO securities. At December 31, 2005, the
unrealized loss on securities available for sale included in
stockholders’ equity totaled $4.4 million, net of tax, com-
pared to the $51,000, net of tax, unrealized loss on securi-
ties available for sale included in stockholders’ equity at
December 31, 2004.

During 2005, securities held to maturity increased by
$96.3 million primarily as a result of purchases of $151.0
million offset by principal repayments of $49.7 million and
a sale of one bond totaling $5.5 million. The bond experi-

enced a deterioration in creditworthiness which meets the
specific exception provided for a sale of a security classi-
fied as held to maturity. The securities held in this portfo-
lio include U.S. Government Agency securities,
mortgage-backed securities, tax-exempt municipal bonds,
AAA Whole Loan CMO securities, and corporate debt se-
curities.

The contractual maturity distribution and weighted aver-
age yield of our available for sale and held to maturity port-
folios at December 31, 2005 are summarized in Table 3.
Weighted average yield is calculated by dividing income
within each maturity range by the outstanding amount of
the related investment and has been tax effected, assum-
ing a tax rate of 34%, on tax-exempt obligations.

TABLE 3

December 31, 2005 Due Under 1 Year Due 1–5 Years Due 5–10 Years Due Over 10 Years Total
(dollars in thousands) Amount/Yield Amount/Yield Amount/Yield Amount/Yield Amount/Yield

Available for Sale:
U.S. Government

Agency obligations $ 5,000 5.00% $ 5,000  5.00%
Mortgage-backed obligations $ 129  5.21% $ 84  6.09% 382,285  5.04 382,498  5.04

Total available for sale $ 0  — $ 129  5.21% $ 84  6.09% $387,285  5.04% $387,498  5.04%

Held to Maturity:
U.S. Government

Agency obligations $10,000  5.00% $101,135  5.14% $ 25,000  5.61% $136,135  5.21%
Municipal obligations 653  5.45 1,964  7.21 2,617  6.77
Mortgage-backed obligations $ 25  7.08% 593  5.41 114  6.47 149,662  5.09 150,394  5.09
Corporate debt securities 2,103  6.24 6,485  6.60 8,532  7.57 17,120  7.04

Total held to maturity $ 2,128  6.25% $17,078  5.62% $101,902  5.14% $185,158  5.30% $306,266  5.27%

Note: Securities available for sale are carried at amortized cost in the table above for purposes of calculating the weighted
average yield received on such securities.

Loan Portfolio

The following table summarizes the composition of our loan portfolio by type as of December 31, for each of the years
2001 through 2005.

TABLE 4

December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2005     2004     2003 2002 2001

Commercial mortgage $ 299,219 $ 239,576 $ 194,609 $ 144,959 $ 142,969
Construction and land development 47,334 39,467 26,895 31,034 32,863
Residential real estate mortgage loans 83,213 79,672 72,713 66,190 48,415
Tax-exempt loans 17,055 6,303 5,720 5,629 2,676
Commercial, industrial and other business loans 138,174 97,198 58,894 49,226 42,399
Consumer loans 148,906 109,568 71,007 34,598 36,551
Commercial lines of credit 90,769 74,559 46,106 37,245 36,801

Total loans $ 824,670 $ 646,343 $ 475,944 $ 368,881 $ 342,674
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We manage risk associated with our loan portfolio through
diversification, with what we believe are sound underwrit-
ing policies and procedures that are reviewed and updated
on at least an annual basis, and ongoing loan monitoring
efforts. Additionally, we monitor concentrations of loans
or loan relationships by industry and set target percent-
ages for each industry. At December 31, 2005, there was
no concentration greater than 16.3% of our loan portfolio
to any one industry and there is no concentration greater
than 2.0% to any one borrower as of December 31, 2005.

Our commercial mortgage and construction and land de-
velopment loans are typically made to small and medium-
sized investors, builders and developers and are secured by
mortgages on real property located principally in south
central Pennsylvania (principally office buildings, multi-
family residential, land development and other commer-
cial properties). The average loan size in this category is
approximately $495,000. Our underwriting policy has es-
tablished maximum terms for commercial mortgage and
construction loans depending on the type of loan within
the commercial real estate category. A five-year call option
is standard on commercial mortgages. Our underwriting
policy generally requires a loan-to-value ratio of no more
than 80% on loans in this category and typically requires
owner guarantees and other collateral depending on our
total risk assessment of the transaction.

Our commercial, industrial and other business loans and
lines of credit are typically made to small and medium-
sized businesses. The average loan size in this category is
approximately $400,000. Based on our underwriting stan-
dards, loans may be secured in whole or in part by collat-
eral such as liquid assets, accounts receivable, equipment,
inventory, and real property. Additionally, our underwrit-
ing policy has established maximum terms for these loans
depending on the loan type within the commercial, in-
dustrial and other business loans lines category. The value
of the collateral in this category may vary depending on
market conditions. The Bank maintains advance rates for
particular collateral categories to mitigate the risk that the
borrower defaults and the value of the collateral is not suf-
ficient to cover the outstanding loan balance. We also ac-
tively manage the unused portion of commercial lines of
credit and would freeze a commitment if a borrower were
in default. As of December 31, 2005, outstandings under
commercial lines of credit were $90.8 million and unused
commitments were $164.8 million.

Residential real estate mortgage loans represented approxi-
mately 10% of our total loans at December 31, 2005. Loans
in this category are collateralized by first mortgages on resi-
dential properties located in South Central Pennsylvania.
Our underwriting policy provides that all residential loans
are to be written based upon standards used by the sec-
ondary market.

Consumer loans and consumer lines of credit represented
approximately 18% of our total loans at December 31,
2005. These loans and lines are secured by first and sec-
ond mortgages, personal assets of the borrower, or may be
unsecured. As of December 31, 2005, 66% of consumer
loans and consumer lines of credit were secured by sec-
ond liens. When originating consumer loans, our under-
writing policy sets limitations on the term of the loan,
defines allowable collateral and the valuation of the col-
lateral, outlines acceptable debt to income ratios and out-
lines acceptable credit sources to identify those loan
applicants with a proven record of credit management. We
actively manage the unused portion of our consumer lines
of credit and would freeze a commitment if a borrower
becomes delinquent. As of December 31, 2005, unused
commitments under consumer lines of credit were $44.6
million.

During 2005, total gross loans increased by $174.7 million
from $660.6 million at December 31, 2004, to $835.3 mil-
lion at December 31, 2005, including $10.6 million of loans
held for sale on December 31, 2005 and $14.3 million of
loans held for sale on December 31, 2004. The loans held
for sale represent student loans and certain residential and
small business administration loans our management in-
tends to sell and reinvest in higher yielding loans and se-
curities. Also included in gross loans are deposit accounts
that are reclassified as loans as a result of overdrawn de-
posit account balances. The total of overdrawn deposit ac-
counts reclassified as loans aggregated $940,000 at
December 31, 2005 and $692,000 at December 31, 2004.
The increase in loans receivable in 2005 was represented
across all loan categories.

During 2005, commercial mortgage loans increased by
$59.6 million, or 25%, and commercial, industrial and
other business loans increased by $41.0 million, or 42%.
The addition to our staff of experienced lenders with long-
term ties to the business communities in our markets has
enhanced our lending portfolio and, as a result, our access
to commercial lending opportunities.

Total consumer loans increased by $39.3 million in 2005
to $148.9 million at year-end compared to $109.6 million
at year-end 2004. This increase of 36% was a direct result
of a focused effort by management to increase the size of
the consumer loan portfolio across all markets of our store
footprint. Lines of credit experienced strong growth in 2005
as well, increasing by $16.2 million, or 22%, from $74.6
million to $90.8 million.

Total loans outstanding represented 60% of total deposits
and 50% of total assets at December 31, 2005, excluding
the loans held for sale, compared to 56% and 51%, respec-
tively, at December 31, 2004.
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The maturity ranges of the loan portfolio and the amounts
of loans with predetermined interest rates and floating in-
terest rates in each maturity range, as of December 31,
2005, are presented in Table 5.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The largest portion of loans, 36%, on our balance sheet is
for commercial mortgage related loans. Our commercial
real estate loan portfolio is principally to borrowers
throughout Cumberland, Dauphin, Lebanon, York and
Berks counties of Pennsylvania where we have full-service
store locations. Commercial real estate, construction, and
land development loans aggregated $346.6 million at De-
cember 31, 2005, compared to $279.0 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2004. Commercial real estate loans are collateralized
by the related project (principally office building, multi-
family residential, land development, and other properties)
and we generally require loan-to-value ratios of no greater
than 80%. Collateral requirements on such loans are de-
termined on a case-by-case basis based on management’s
credit evaluations of the respective borrowers.

Consumer loans comprised 18%, or $148.9 million, of to-
tal loans at December 31, 2005. Approximately $107.0 mil-
lion of consumer loans are secured by real estate, $40.8
million of consumer loans are loans collateralized by per-
sonal assets of the borrower, and $1.1 million of consumer
loans are unsecured.

Commercial loans represented 17% of total loans at De-
cember 31, 2005. Collateral for these types of loans varies
depending upon management’s credit evaluations of the

respective borrowers and generally includes the following:
business assets, personal guarantees, and/or personal as-
sets of the borrower.

On a monthly basis, the Bank’s credit services personnel
prepare two different loan concentration reports: one us-
ing standardized North American Industry Classification
codes and the second report by loan product type. Man-
agement reviews and uses these concentration reports to
monitor risks. Quarterly, a Risk Management Booklet is
prepared and reviewed by both management and our board
of directors, which identifies areas of risk and quantifies if
any exceptions were made to policies and procedures in
the lending area during the preceding quarter. Management
and the board utilize the Risk Management Booklet as a
tool to identify and limit procedure and policy exceptions
and to reduce any unnecessary risk in the lending func-
tion.

Non-Performing Loans and Assets

Total non-performing assets (non-performing loans, fore-
closed real estate and loans past due 90 days or more and
still accruing interest) at December 31, 2005, were $2.7
million, or .16%, of total assets as compared to $1.4 mil-
lion, or 0.11%, of total assets at December 31, 2004. Total
non-performing loans (nonaccrual loans and restructured
loans) at December 31, 2005 were $2.5 million compared
to $857,000 a year ago. Total delinquent loans (those loans
30 days or more delinquent) as a percentage of total loans
were 0.36% at December 31, 2005, compared to 0.29% at
December 31, 2004. We generally place a loan on

TABLE 5
December 31, 2005

Due Within Due 1–5 Due Over
(in thousands) One Year Years Five Years Total

Real estate:
Commercial mortgage $ 15,918 $ 17,126 $266,175 $299,219
Construction and land development 22,708 14,879 9,747 47,334
Residential mortgage 38,876 19,042 25,295 83,213
Tax-exempt 4,496 983 11,576 17,055

81,998 52,030 312,793 446,821
Commercial 37,874 55,918 44,382 138,174
Consumer 24,721 15,028 109,157 148,906
Commercial lines of credit 64,745 25,362 662 90,769

Total loans $209,338 $148,338 $466,994 $824,670

Interest rates:
Predetermined $ 63,018 $ 85,323 $397,518 $545,859
Floating 146,320 63,015 69,476 278,811

Total loans $209,338 $148,338 $466,994 $824,670
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nonaccrual status and cease accruing interest when loan
payment performance is deemed unsatisfactory and the
loan is past due 90 days or more, unless the loan is both
well-secured and in the process of collection. At Decem-
ber 31, 2005, loans past due 90 days and still accruing in-
terest amounted to $233,000 compared to $0 at December
31, 2004. Additional loans considered by our internal loan
review department as potential problem loans of $1.6 mil-
lion at December 31, 2005, compared to $840,000 at De-
cember 31, 2004, have been evaluated as to risk exposure
in determining the adequacy of the allowance for loan
losses.

Foreclosed real estate totaled $159,000 as of December 31,
2005 as compared to $507,000 as of December 31, 2004.
These properties have been written down to the lower of
cost or fair value less disposition costs. We obtain updated
appraisals on non-performing loans secured by real estate.
In those instances where appraisals reflect reduced collat-
eral values, an evaluation of the borrower’s overall finan-
cial condition is made to determine the need for possible
write-downs or appropriate additions to the allowance for
loan losses.

The following table summarizes information regarding
non-performing loans and non-performing assets as of
December 31, 2001 through 2005.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses is a reserve established
through charges to expense in the form of a provision for
loan losses and reduced by loan charge-offs net of recov-
eries. Charge-offs occur when loans are deemed to be un-
collectible. Management has established an allowance for
loan losses that they believe is adequate for estimated in-
herent losses in the current loan portfolio. In conjunction
with an internal loan review function that operates inde-
pendently of the lending function, management monitors
the loan portfolio to identify risks on a timely basis so that
an appropriate allowance can be maintained. Based on an
evaluation of the loan portfolio, management presents a
quarterly review of the allowance for loan losses to the
board of directors, indicating any changes in the allow-
ance since the last review and any recommendations as to
adjustments in the allowance. In making the evaluation,
management considers the results of recent regulatory ex-
aminations, which typically include a review of the allow-
ance for loan losses as an important part of the
examination process.

In establishing the allowance, management evaluates in-
dividual large classified loans and nonaccrual loans, and
determines an aggregate reserve for those loans based on
that review. An allowance for the remainder of the loan

TABLE 6
December 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2005     2004     2003 2002 2001

Nonaccrual loans:
Commercial $ 684 $ 308 $ 143 $ 958 $ 127
Consumer 296 11 68 42 116
Real estate:

Construction 0 0 159 0 0

Mortgage 1,322 267 417 599 633

Total nonaccrual loans 2,302 586 787 1,599 876

Loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing 233 0 385 55 0

Restructured loans 0 271 0 0 0

Total non-performing loans 2,535 857 1,172 1,654 876

Foreclosed real estate 159 507 236 118 12

Total non-performing assets $2,694 $1,364 $1,408 $1,772 $ 888

Non-performing loans to total loans 0.31% 0.13% 0.25% 0.45% 0.26%

Non-performing assets to total assets 0.16% 0.11% 0.13% 0.23% 0.15%

Interest income received on nonaccrual loans $ 106 $ 30 $ 37 $ 79 $ 33

Interest income that would have been recorded
under the original terms of the loans $ 114 $ 10 $ 45 $    193 $ 89
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portfolio is also determined based on historical loss expe-
rience within the components of the portfolio. These allo-
cations may be modified if current conditions indicate that
loan losses may differ from historical experience, based on
factors and changes in portfolio mix and volume.

In addition, a portion of the allowance is established for
losses inherent in the loan portfolio, which have not been
identified by the more quantitative processes described
above. This determination inherently involves a higher
degree of subjectivity, and considers risk factors that may
not have yet manifested themselves in our historical loss
experience. Those factors include changes in levels and
trends of charge-offs, delinquencies and nonaccrual loans,
trends in volume and term loans, changes in underwrit-
ing standards and practices, portfolio mix, tenure of the
loan officers and management, changes in credit concen-
trations, and national and local economic trends and con-
ditions.

More specifically, the methodology we use to assess the
adequacy of our allowance includes:

• Identifying loans for individual review under FASB State-
ment of Financial Accounting Standards No. 114, “Ac-
counting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan” (State-
ment 114). In general, the loans identified for individual
review under Statement 114 consist of large balance com-
mercial loans and commercial mortgages.

• Assessing whether the loans identified for review under
Statement 114 are “impaired” based on the probability
that all amounts due under the loan will not be col-
lected according to the contractual terms of the loan
agreement.

• For loans identified as impaired, calculating the estimated
fair value of the loan, using observable market prices,
discounted cash flows or the value of the underlying
collateral.

• Classifying all non-impaired, large balance loans based
on credit risk ratings and allocating an allowance for
loan losses based on appropriate factors, including re-
cent loss history for similar loans.

• Identifying other loans for evaluation collectively un-
der the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 5 “Accounting for Contingencies” (State-
ment 5). In general, these other loans include residen-
tial mortgages, consumer loans, and installment loans.

• Segmenting Statement 5 loans into groups with similar
characteristics and allocating an allowance for loan losses
to each segment based on recent loss history and other
relevant information.

• Reviewing the results to determine the appropriate bal-
ance of the allowance for loan losses. This review gives
additional consideration to factors such as the mix of
loans in the portfolio, the balance of the allowance rela-
tive to total loans and non-performing assets, trends in
the overall risk profile of the portfolio, trends in delin-
quencies and nonaccrual loans and local and national
economic conditions.

While the allowance for loan losses is maintained at a level
believed to be adequate by management for estimated
losses in the loan portfolio, determination of the allow-
ance is inherently subjective, as it requires estimates, all of
which may be susceptible to significant change. Changes
in these estimates may impact the provisions charged to
expense in future periods.

We recorded provisions of $1.6 million to the allowance
for loan losses for 2005 compared to $2.6 million for 2004.
During 2005, net charge-offs amounted to $176,000, or
0.02%, of average loans outstanding for the year, compared
to $806,000, or 0.14%, of average loans outstanding for
2004. The allowance for loan losses decreased as a percent-
age of loans receivable from 1.21% of total loans outstand-
ing at December 31, 2004, to 1.12% of total loans
outstanding at December 31, 2005 and provided coverage
of 364% of non-performing loans. Based upon a consis-
tent application of our loan loss reserve methodology, the
allowance level increased by $1.4 million to $9.2 million
or 1.12% of total loans at December 31, 2005, but decreased
as a percentage of total loans due to 28% growth in the
loan portfolio in 2005.

Table 7 on the next page presents, for the years 2001
through 2005, information regarding our provision and
allowance for loan losses.
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TABLE 7
Years Ended December 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2005     2004     2003 2002 2001

Balance at beginning of year $7,847 $6,007 $5,146 $4,544 $3,732
Provisions charged to operating expenses 1,560 2,646 1,695 1,435 1,469

9,407 8,653 6,841 5,979 5,201

Recoveries of loans previously charged-off:
Commercial 546 110 66 93 3
Consumer 50 113 85 2 21
Real estate 0 8 115 21 0

Total recoveries 596 231 266 116 24

Loans charged-off:
Commercial (627) (528) (483) (561) (475)
Consumer (135) (350) (331) (70) (85)
Real estate (10) (159) (286) (318) (121)

Total charged-off (772) (1,037) (1,100) (949) (681)

Net charge-offs (176) (806) (834) (833) (657)

Balance at end of year $9,231 $7,847 $6,007 $5,146 $4,544

Net charge-offs (recoveries)
to average loans outstanding 0.02% 0.14% 0.20% 0.23% 0.21%

Allowance for loan losses to year-end loans 1.12% 1.21% 1.26% 1.40% 1.33%

Allocation of the Allowance for Loan Losses

The following table details the allocation of the allowance
for loan losses to the various categories. The allocation is
made for analytical purposes and it is not necessarily in-
dicative of the categories in which future credit losses may
occur. The total allowance is available to absorb losses from
any segment of loans. The allocations in the table below

were determined by a combination of the following fac-
tors: specific allocations made on loans considered impaired
as determined by management and the loan review com-
mittee, a general allocation on certain other impaired loans,
and historical losses in each loan type category combined
with a weighting of the current loan composition.

TABLE 8

Allowance for Loan Losses at December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

% Gross % Gross % Gross % Gross % Gross
(dollars in thousands) Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans

Commercial loans
and lines of credit $3,675      28% $3,063     27% $2,636     21% $2,428     24% $ 986      23%

Consumer 1,785      18 1,657     17 717     15 452       9 157      11
Real estate,
construction and
land development:
 Commercial 3,058      42 2,540     43 2,157     47 1,698     48 3,240      50
 Residential 713      12 587     13 497     17 568     19 161      16

Total $9,231    100% $7,847   100% $6,007   100% $5,146   100% $4,544    100%
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Bank Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment at December 31, 2005 was $66.3
million, up $21.1 million, or 47%, over premises and equip-
ment of $45.2 million at December 31, 2004. This increase
is primarily due to additional capital expenditures associ-
ated with the four new stores opened in 2005 as well as
construction in process related to our new Headquarters,
Operations and Training facility.

Other Assets

Other assets increased by $5.0 million from $8.8 million
at December 31, 2004 to $13.8 million at December 31,
2005. This change was primarily due to a $2.7 million in-
crease in deferred tax assets and a $2.1 million increase in
accrued interest receivable on loans and investment secu-
rities.

Deposits

Total deposits at December 31, 2005, were $1.37 billion,
up $210.5 million, or 18%, over total deposits of $1.16 bil-
lion at December 31, 2004. We remain a deposit-driven
financial institution with emphasis on core deposit accu-
mulation and retention as a basis for sound growth and
profitability. We regard core deposits as all deposits other

than public certificates of deposits. Deposits in the vari-
ous core categories increased $201.8 million, or 18%, in
2005 over 2004. Total deposits averaged $1.24 billion for
2005, an increase of $224.5 million, or 22%, over the 2004
average of $1.02 billion. The average balance on
noninterest-bearing demand deposits increased in 2005 by
$40.2 million, or 22%, compared to the prior year. The av-
erage balance of interest bearing demand accounts (money
market and interest checking accounts) for 2005 increased
by $132.1 million, or 38%, over the average balance for
the prior year. The average total balance of all savings ac-
counts was $325.2 million, a $48.4 million, or 17%, in-
crease over the average balance for 2004. The average
balance of all time deposits in 2005 was $214.4 million,
an increase of $3.8 million, or 2%, over the average bal-
ance for 2004. For 2005, the deposit cost of funds was
1.73% as compared to 1.09% in 2004.

We believe that our record of sustaining core deposit
growth is reflective of our retail approach to banking which
emphasizes a combination of free checking accounts, con-
venient store locations, extended hours of operation, un-
paralleled quality customer service, and active marketing.

The average balances and weighted average rates paid on
deposits for 2005, 2004 and 2003 are presented below.

TABLE 9

Years Ended December 31,

2005 Average 2004 Average 2003 Average
(dollars in thousands) Balance/Rate Balance/Rate Balance/Rate

Demand deposits:
Noninterest-bearing $ 220,566 $ 180,355 $142,805
Interest-bearing (money market and checking) 479,310 2.49% 347,212 1.23% 245,264 0.90%

Savings 325,218   1.55 276,862   1.01 234,431   1.02
Time 214,420   3.00 210,620   2.30 179,758   3.07

Total deposits $1,239,514 $1,015,049 $802,258

The remaining maturity for certificates of deposit of $100,000 or more as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 is presented
in Table 10.

TABLE 10

(in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

3 months or less $ 20,002 $ 39,270 $35,065
3 to 6 months 6,487 15,530 21,202
6 to 12 months 29,582 13,344 18,520
Over 12 months 69,028 36,811 16,612

Total $125,099 $104,955 $91,399
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Short-Term Borrowings

Short-term borrowings, which consist of securities sold
under agreement to repurchase and federal funds pur-
chased, were used in 2005 and 2004 to meet short-term
liquidity needs. For 2005, short-term borrowings averaged
$83.7 million and repurchase agreements averaged $21.9
million. The weighted average rate paid during 2005 was
3.62% for both short-term borrowings and repurchase
agreements. At December 31, 2005, short-term borrowings
totaled $157.9 million at an average rate of 4.24%. As of
December 31, 2004, there were no short-term borrowings
or repurchase agreements. The maximum short-term bor-
rowings outstanding at any month-end were $183.2 mil-
lion in 2005 and $87.5 million in 2004. The maximum
repurchase agreements outstanding at any month-end were
$70 million in 2005 and $40 million in 2004.

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt totaled $13.6 million at December 31, in
both 2005 and 2004. Our long-term debt consisted of Trust
Capital Securities through Commerce Harrisburg Capital
Trust I and Commerce Harrisburg Capital Trust II, our Dela-
ware business trust subsidiaries. At December 31, 2005, all
of the Trust Capital Securities qualified as Tier I capital for
regulatory capital purposes. Proceeds of the Trust Capital
Securities were used for general corporate purposes, includ-
ing additional capitalization of our wholly-owned bank-
ing subsidiary. See Note 10 in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for further analysis of our long-term
debt.

Stockholders’ Equity and Capital Adequacy

At December 31, 2005, stockholders’ equity totaled $91.6
million, up $6.6 million, or 8%, over stockholders’ equity
at December 31, 2004. This increase was due to our net
income for the year and shares issued under stock purchase
and stock option plans offset by unrealized losses on secu-
rities available for sale. Stockholders’ equity as a percent
of total assets was 5.60% at December 31, 2005, compared
to 6.66% at December 31, 2004. See Note 12 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for December 31, 2005,
included herein, for additional discussion regarding Stock-
holders’ Equity.

Risk-based capital provides the basis for which all banks
are evaluated in terms of capital adequacy. The risk-based
capital standards require all banks to have Tier 1 capital of
at least 4% and total capital, including Tier 1 capital, of at
least 8% of risk-adjusted assets. Tier 1 capital includes com-
mon stockholders’ equity and qualifying perpetual pre-
ferred stock together with related surpluses and retained
earnings. Total capital may be comprised of total Tier 1
capital plus limited life preferred stock, qualifying debt in-
struments, and the allowance for loan losses.

Table 11 provides a comparison of the Bank’s risk-based
capital ratios and leverage ratios to the minimum regula-
tory requirements for the periods indicated.

TABLE 11

Minimum
                      Actual December 31, Regulatory

2005 2004 Requirements

Tier 1 Capital      9.77%    11.55%        4.00%
Total Capital    10.60    12.48        8.00
Leverage ratio
   (to total assets)      6.68      7.78            3.00–4.00

At December 31, 2005, the consolidated capital levels of
the Company and of the Bank met the definition of a
“well-capitalized” institution, i.e., a leverage capital ratio
exceeding 5%, a Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio exceeding
6%, and a total risk-based capital ratio exceeding 10%.

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ National Mar-
ket under the symbol COBH. Prior to October 13, 2004,
shares of Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc. common
stock were traded on the NASDAQ Small Cap Market un-
der the symbol COBH. The table below sets forth the prices
on the NASDAQ Small Cap Market (adjusted for stock divi-
dends) known to us for each full quarterly period for the
period January 1, 2004 through October 12, 2004. The table
also includes the prices on the NASDAQ National Market
known to us for the period beginning October 13, 2004
through December 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2005,
there were approximately 2,200 holders of record of the
Company’s common stock.

Sales Price
Quarter Ended: High Low

March 31, 2005 $ 33.97 $ 28.93
June 30, 2005 38.00 29.11
September 30, 2005 36.68 33.05
December 31, 2005 36.00 30.72

March 31, 2004 $ 27.50 $ 23.25
June 30, 2004 25.63 23.26
September 30, 2004 25.05 21.88
December 31, 2004 31.50 22.00

We offer a Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan
by which dividends on our Common Stock and optional
cash payments of up to $10,000 per month (subject to
change) may be invested in Common Stock at a 3% dis-
count (subject to change) to the market price and without
payment of brokerage commissions.
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Interest Rate Sensitivity

The management of interest rate sensitivity seeks to avoid
fluctuating net interest margins and to provide consistent
net interest income through periods of changing interest
rates.

Our risk of loss arising from adverse changes in the fair
value of financial instruments, or market risk, is composed
primarily of interest rate risk. The primary objective of our
asset/liability management activities is to maximize net
interest income while maintaining acceptable levels of in-
terest rate risk. Our Asset/Liability Committee (ALCO) is
responsible for establishing policies to limit exposure to
interest rate risk, and to ensure procedures are established
to monitor compliance with those policies. Our board of
directors reviews the guidelines established by ALCO.

An interest rate sensitive asset or liability is one that, within
a defined time period, either matures or experiences an
interest rate change in line with general market interest
rates. Historically, the most common method of estimat-
ing interest rate risk was to measure the maturity and re-
pricing relationships between interest-earning assets and
interest-bearing liabilities at specific points in time, referred
to as “GAP,” typically one year. Under this method, a com-
pany is considered liability sensitive when the amount of
its interest-bearing liabilities exceeds the amount of its in-
terest-earning assets within the one-year horizon. However,

assets and liabilities with similar repricing characteristics
may not reprice at the same time or to the same degree.
As a result, our GAP does not necessarily predict the im-
pact of changes in general levels of interest rates on net
interest income. Table 12 shows our GAP position as of
December 31, 2005. The repricing assumptions used in the
table are as follows:

• Fixed rate loans receivable are scheduled according to
their contractual amortization and payment schedules
specific to each loan.

• Floating rate loans receivable are scheduled in the 1-90
day category as they are tied to a floating index such as
New York Prime and available for immediate repricing.

• Securities with pre-payment characteristics such as mort-
gage-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obli-
gations are scheduled based upon their remaining
weighted average lives as calculated utilizing a market
consensus Constant Prepayment Rate. All other securi-
ties are assumed to reprice at their contractual maturity.

• 30% of Transaction accounts are expected to reprice
within the first 90 days with the remaining 70% repric-
ing after 5 years.

• Time deposit accounts, short-term borrowings, and trust
capital securities are scheduled based upon their con-
tractual maturity dates.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

TABLE 12

December 31, 2005
(dollars in thousands) 1 – 90 91 – 180 181 – 365 1 – 5 Beyond 5

Days Days Days Years Years Total

Interest-earning assets:
Loans receivable $ 307,964 $ 11,097 $ 30,801 $311,709 $170,468 $ 832,039
Securities 44,560 30,504 43,304 264,466 307,727 690,561

Total interest-earning assets 352,524 41,601 74,105 576,175 478,195 1,522,600

Interest-bearing liabilities:
Transaction accounts 269,925 0 0 0 624,165 894,090
Time deposits 49,130 18,899 46,500 114,342 0 228,871
Short-term borrowings 157,900 0 0 0 0 157,900
Long-term debt 0 0 0 0 13,600 13,600

Total interest-bearing liabilities 476,955 18,899 46,500 114,342 637,765 1,294,461

Period GAP (124,431) 22,702 27,605 461,833 (159,570) $ 228,139

Cumulative GAP $(124,431) $(101,729) $(74,124) $387,709 $228,139

Cumulative RSA / RSL 73.91% 79.48% 86.33% 159.04% 117.62%

Notes:  Nonaccrual loans, deferred fees on loans and overdrafts have been excluded in the loans receivable balances. Securities are
reported at current face value for purposes of this table.  RSA means rate sensitive assets; RSL means rate sensitive liabilities.
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Shortcomings are inherent in any GAP analysis since cer-
tain assets and liabilities may not move proportionately
as interest rates change. As the interest rate environment
has become more volatile, we have continued to place
greater reliance on interest income sensitivity modeling
and less on GAP reporting.

Our management understands that the preparation of GAP
reports can only provide a guide to the impact of the move-
ment of interest rates. Modeling is the best means to pre-
dict the movement in interest rates. This is true because
even with the achievement of a perfectly matched balance
sheet (per a GAP report), we may be subject to interest rate
risk due to: differences in the timing of repricing, basis risk,
market risk, customer ability to prepay loans or withdraw
funds and yield curve risk.

Our management believes the simulation of net interest
income in different interest rate environments provides a
more meaningful measure of interest rate risk. Income
simulation analysis captures not only the potential of all
assets and liabilities to mature or reprice, but also the prob-
ability that they will do so. Income simulation also attends
to the relative interest rate sensitivities of these items, and
projects their behavior over an extended period of time.
Finally, income simulation permits management to assess
the probable effects on the balance sheet not only of
changes in interest rates, but also of proposed strategies
for responding to them.

Our income simulation model analyzes interest rate sensi-
tivity by projecting net income over the next 24 months
in a flat rate scenario versus net income in alternative in-
terest rate scenarios. Our management continually reviews
and refines its interest rate risk management process in re-
sponse to the changing economic climate. Currently, our
model projects a 200 basis point increase and a 200 basis
point decrease during the next year, with rates remaining
constant in the second year.

Our Asset/Liability Committee (ALCO) policy has estab-
lished that income sensitivity will be considered accept-
able if net income in the above mentioned interest rate
scenario is within 12% of forecasted net income in the first
year and within 18% using a two year time frame.

The following table compares the impact on forecasted net
income at December 31, 2005 of a plus 200 and minus 200
basis point (bp) change in interest rates to the impact at
December 31, 2004 of a plus 200 and minus 100 bp change
in interest rates. Given the overall low level of market in-
terest rates present at December 31, 2004, we felt it was
more practical to measure a minus 100 bp change than a
minus 200 bp change.  Given the 200 bp increase in short-
term interest rates in 2005, management now uses a mi-
nus 200 bp change for modeling purposes.

Basis Point Change
Plus 200 Minus 200 Minus 100

December 31, 2005:
Twelve Months   (15.0)%     12.0 % N/A
Twenty-Four Months   (13.0)%       2.0 % N/A

December 31, 2004:
Twelve Months     (3.2)% N/A      3.5 %
Twenty-Four Months      3.2 % N/A      1.0 %

All of these forecasts are within an acceptable level of in-
terest rate risk per the policies established by ALCO. In the
event the model indicates an unacceptable level of risk,
Management could undertake a number of actions that
would reduce this risk, including the sale of a portion of
our available for sale investment portfolio, the use of risk
management strategies such as interest rate swaps and caps,
or fixing the cost of our short-term borrowings.

Many assumptions were used by us to calculate the im-
pact of changes in interest rates. Actual results may not be
similar to our projections due to several factors including
the timing and frequency of rate changes, market condi-
tions and the shape of the yield curve.  In general, a flat-
tening of the yield curve would result in reduced net
interest income compared to the current flat rate scenario
and proportionate rate shift assumptions.  Actual results
may also differ due to Management’s actions, if any, in re-
sponse to the changing rates.

Management also monitors interest rate risk by utilizing a
market value of equity model. The model assesses the im-
pact of a change in interest rates on the market value of
all our assets and liabilities, as well as any off balance sheet
items. The model calculates the market value of our assets
and liabilities in excess of book value in the current rate
scenario, and then compares the excess of market value
over book value given an immediate 200 basis point in-
crease in rates and a 200 basis point decrease in rates. Our
ALCO policy indicates that the level of interest rate risk is
unacceptable if the immediate change would result in the
loss of 50% or more of the excess of market value over
book value in the current rate scenario. At December 31,
2005, the market value of equity indicates an acceptable
level of interest rate risk.

The market value of equity model reflects certain estimates
and assumptions regarding the impact on the market value
of our assets and liabilities given an immediate 200 basis
point change in interest rates. One of the key assumptions
is the market value assigned to our core deposits, or the
core deposit premium. Using an independent consultant,
we have completed and updated comprehensive core de-
posit studies in order to assign our own core deposit pre-
miums as permitted by regulation. The studies have



46

consistently confirmed management’s assertion that our
core deposits have stable balances over long periods of time,
are relatively insensitive to changes in interest rates and
have significant longer average lives and durations than
our loans and investment securities. Thus, these core de-
posit balances provide an internal hedge to market fluc-
tuations in our fixed rate assets. Management believes the
core deposit premiums produced by its market value of
equity model at December 31, 2005 provide an accurate
assessment of our interest rate risk.

Liquidity

The objective of liquidity management is to ensure our
ability to meet our financial obligations. These obligations
include the payment of deposits on demand at their con-
tractual maturity; the repayment of borrowings as they
mature; the payment of lease obligations as they become
due; the ability to fund new and existing loans and other
funding commitments; and the ability to take advantage
of new business opportunities. Our ALCO is responsible
for implementing the policies and guidelines of our board
governing liquidity.

Liquidity sources are found on both sides of the balance
sheet. Liquidity is provided on a continuous basis through
scheduled and unscheduled principal reductions and in-
terest payments on outstanding loans and investments.
Liquidity is also provided through the availability and
maintenance of a strong base of core customer deposits;
maturing short-term assets; the ability to sell marketable
securities; short-term borrowings and access to capital mar-
kets.

Liquidity is measured and monitored daily, allowing man-
agement to better understand and react to balance sheet
trends. On a monthly basis, a comprehensive liquidity
analysis is reviewed by our board of directors. The analysis
provides a summary of the current liquidity measurements,
projections and future liquidity positions given various lev-
els of liquidity stress. Management also maintains a de-
tailed liquidity contingency plan designed to respond to
an overall decline in the condition of the banking indus-
try or a problem specific to the Company.

The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows provide addi-
tional information on our sources and uses of funds. From
a funding standpoint, we have been able to rely over the
years on a stable base of strong “core” deposit growth. We
generated $4.4 million in cash from operating activities
during 2005 versus $32.9 million during 2004. This de-
crease was primarily attributed to the change in balances
in other assets and other liabilities from one year to the
next. Investing activities resulted in a net cash outflow of
$378.9 million during 2005 compared to $231.7 million
in 2004. Additional investment purchases of $174.5 mil-
lion contributed to the increase in investing activities in

2005 over 2004. Financing activities resulted in a net in-
flow of $370.1 million in 2005 compared to $202.0 mil-
lion in 2004.  The cash inflow in 2005 was mostly from
net deposit growth of $210.5 million and an increase in
short-term borrowings of $157.9 million. For 2004, cash
inflows from $254.0 million in deposit growth and $25.4
million in proceeds from a stock offerings were offset by a
cash outflow of $79.0 million to pay short-term borrow-
ings.

At December 31, 2005, liquid assets (defined as cash and
cash equivalents, short-term investments, mortgages avail-
able for sale, securities available for sale, and non-mort-
gage-backed securities held to maturity due in one year or
less) totaled $421.9 million, or 26% of total assets. This
compares to $360.4 million, or 28% of total assets, at De-
cember 31, 2004.

Our investment portfolio consists mainly of mortgage-
backed securities, which do not have stated maturities.
Cash flows from such investments are dependent upon the
performance of the underlying mortgage loans, and are
generally influenced by the level of interest rates. As rates
increase, cash flows generally decrease as prepayments on
the underlying mortgage loans slow. As rates decrease, cash
flows generally increase as prepayments increase.

The Company and the Bank’s liquidity are managed sepa-
rately. On an unconsolidated basis, the principal source of
our revenue is dividends paid to the Company by the Bank.
The Bank is subject to regulatory restrictions on its ability
to pay dividends to the Company. The Company’s net cash
outflows consist principally of interest on the Capital Trust
Securities, dividends on the preferred stock and unallocated
corporate expenses.

We also maintain secondary sources of liquidity consist-
ing of federal funds lines of credit, repurchase agreements,
and borrowing capacity at the Federal Home Loan Bank,
which can be drawn upon if needed. As of December 31,
2005, our total potential liquidity through these second-
ary sources was $521.1 million of which $363.2 million
was currently available, as compared to $394.4 million at
December 31, 2004 of which all was currently available.

Subject to regulatory approvals, we are targeting to open
approximately 30 new stores over the next six years. The
cost to construct and furnish a new store will be approxi-
mately $1.7 million, excluding the cost to lease or purchase
the land on which the store is located. To accommodate
our growth and perpetuate our culture we currently are
completing construction on a new Headquarters, Opera-
tions and Training Center in Harrisburg, which we expect
to open at the end of March 2006. As of December 31,
2005, the remaining anticipated funding to construct and
furnish this building is expected to be approximately $8
million.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations



47

For further discussion regarding our commitments and con-
tingencies, please see Note 18 in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for December 31, 2005, included
herein.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In the conduct of ordinary business operations we routinely
enter into contracts for services. These contracts may re-
quire payment for services to be provided in the future and
may also contain penalty clauses for the early termination
of the contract. Management is not aware of any additional
commitments or contingent liabilities, which may have a
material adverse impact on our liquidity or capital re-
sources.

We are also party to financial instruments with off-balance
sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the
financing needs of its customers. These financial instru-
ments include commitments to extend credit and standby
letters of credit. See Note 5 in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for December 31, 2005, included
herein, for additional information.

Forward-Looking Statements

The Company may, from time to time, make written or
oral “forward-looking statements”, including statements
contained in the Company’s filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (including the annual report on
Form 10-K and the exhibits thereto), in its reports to stock-
holders and in other communications by the Company,
which are made in good faith by the Company pursuant
to the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Liti-
gation Reform Act of 1995.

Aggregate Contractual Obligations

The following table represents our on-and-off balance sheet aggregate contractual obligations to make future payments as
of December 31, 2005:

TABLE 13

December 31, 2005
Less than 1 to 3 3 to 5 Over 5

(in thousands) 1 Year Years Years Years Total

Time Deposits $114,530 $61,450 $52,891 $ 0 $228,871
Long-Term Debt 0 0 0 13,600 13,600
Operating Leases 1,948 3,722 3,416 26,183 35,269
Purchase Obligations 8,000 0 0 0 8,000
Sponsorship Obligation 225 617 467 1,866 3,175

Total $124,703 $65,789 $56,774 $41,649 $288,915

These forward-looking statements include statements with
respect to the Company’s beliefs, plans, objectives, goals,
expectations, anticipations, estimates and intentions, that
are subject to significant risks and uncertainties and are
subject to change based on various factors (some of which
are beyond the Company’s control). The words “may”,
“could”, “should”, “would”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “esti-
mate”, “expect”, “intend”, “plan” and similar expressions
are intended to identify forward-looking statements. The
following factors, among others, could cause the
Company’s financial performance to differ materially from
that expressed in such forward-looking statements: the
strength of the United States economy in general and the
strength of the local economies in which the Company
conducts operations; the effects of, and changes in, trade,
monetary and fiscal policies, including interest rate poli-
cies of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve Sys-
tem; inflation; interest rate, market and monetary
fluctuations; the timely development of competitive new
products and services by the Company and the acceptance
of such products and services by customers; the willing-
ness of customers to substitute competitors’ products and
services for the Company’s products and services and vice
versa; the impact of changes in financial services’ laws and
regulations (including laws concerning taxes, banking, se-
curities and insurance); the impact of the rapid growth of
the Company; the Company’s dependence on Commerce
Bancorp, Inc. to provide various services to the Company;
changes in the Company’s allowance for loan losses; ef-
fect of terrorists attacks and threats of actual war; unan-
ticipated regulatory or judicial proceedings; changes in
consumer spending and saving habits; and the success of
the Company at managing the risks involved in the fore-
going.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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The Company cautions that the foregoing list of impor-
tant factors is not exclusive. The Company does not un-
dertake to update any forward-looking statements, whether
written or oral, that may be made from time to time by or
on behalf of the Company. For further information, refer
to the Company’s filings with the SEC.

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices

Interest rates have a more significant impact on our per-
formance than do the effects of general levels of inflation,
since most of our assets and liabilities are monetary in na-
ture. Interest rates do not necessarily move in the same
direction or in the same magnitude as the prices of goods
and services as measured by the Consumer Price Index. The
liquidity and maturity structure of our assets and liabili-
ties are critical to the maintenance of acceptable perfor-
mance levels.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
about Market Risk

Our exposure to market risk principally includes interest
rate risk, which was previously discussed. Historically, our
net interest margin has remained fairly stable; however,
our net interest margin for the year ended December 31,
2005 was 3.77%, a decrease of 51 basis points from 4.28%
for the year ended December 31, 2004 as a result of the
flattening yield curve in effect throughout 2005. See the
section titled “Net Interest Income and Net Interest Mar-
gin” in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis for fur-
ther discussion regarding our net interest margin
performance.

Currently, we have 96% of our deposits in accounts which
we consider core deposits. These accounts, which have a
relatively low cost of deposits, have historically contrib-
uted significantly to the net interest margin.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc.
Report on Management’s Assessment of Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting

Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc. is responsible for the preparation, integrity, and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements included in this annual report. The consolidated financial statements and notes included in this
annual report have been prepared in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles and necessarily
include some amounts that are based on management’s best estimates and judgments.

We, as management of Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc., are responsible for establishing and maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting that is designed to produce reliable financial statements in conformity with
United States generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the Company; provide reasonable assurance that the transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of financial statement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the Company are only being made in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the Company; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. The system of
internal control over financial reporting as it relates to the financial statements is evaluated for effectiveness by management
and tested for liability through a program of internal audits. Actions are taken to correct potential deficiencies as they are
identified.

Any system of internal control, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the possibility that a
control can be circumvented or overridden and misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
Also, because of changes in conditions, internal control effectiveness may vary over time. Accordingly, even an effective
system of internal control will provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation.

Management assessed the Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, in relation
to criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting as described in Internal Control – Integrated Framework,
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management
concludes that, as of December 31, 2005, its system of internal control over financial reporting is effective and meets the
criteria of the Internal Control – Integrated Framework.  Beard Miller Company LLP, independent registered public accounting
firm, has issued an attestation report on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005.

/s/ Gary L. Nalbandian
Gary L. Nalbandian

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Mark A. Zody
Mark A. Zody

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 13, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc.
Camp Hill, Pennsylvania

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Report on Management’s Assessment of Internal
Control over Financial Reporting, that Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc. maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc. maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COSO”). Also in our opinion, Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”).

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated balance sheets of Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and
2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2005 and our report dated March 13, 2006, expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

Beard Miller Company LLP
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania
March 13, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc.
Camp Hill, Pennsylvania

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc. and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows
for the each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005. These consolidated financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for the each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp, Inc.’s internal control over the financial reporting as of December
31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) and our report dated March 13, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion
on management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting.

Beard Miller Company LLP
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania
March 13, 2006
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

  December 31,
(in thousands, except share amounts) 2005 2004

Assets

Cash and due from banks $ 36,422 $ 28,910
Federal funds sold 0 12,000

Cash and cash equivalents 36,422 40,910
Securities, available for sale at fair value 380,836 314,065
Securities, held to maturity at cost

(fair value 2005: $301,978;  2004: $210,908) 306,266 209,917
Loans, held for sale 10,585 14,287
Loans receivable, net of allowance for loan losses

(allowance 2005: $9,231;  2004: $7,847) 815,439 638,496
Restricted investments in bank stocks 11,463 5,716
Premises and equipment, net 66,264 45,188
Other assets 13,846 8,788

Total assets $1,641,121 $1,277,367

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Deposits:
Noninterest-bearing $ 248,101 $ 206,393
Interest-bearing 1,122,961 954,154

Total deposits 1,371,062 1,160,547
Short-term borrowings and repurchase agreements 157,900 0
Long-term debt 13,600 13,600
Other liabilities 6,916 18,181

Total liabilities 1,549,478 1,192,328

Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock – Series A noncumulative; $10.00 par value;

1,000,000 shares authorized; 40,000 shares issued and outstanding 400 400
Common stock – $1.00 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized;

(issued and outstanding 2005: 6,013,859;  2004: 5,869,606) 6,014 5,870
Surplus 64,859 62,790
Retained Earnings 24,767 16,030
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (4,397) (51)

Total stockholders’ equity 91,643 85,039

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,641,121 $1,277,367

See accompanying notes
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Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except share amounts) 2005 2004 2003

Interest Income

Loans receivable, including fees:
Taxable $47,949 $35,433 $27,545
Tax-exempt 421 292 216

Securities:
Taxable 30,822 24,789 17,108
Tax-exempt 355 401 453

Federal funds sold 5 67 220

Total interest income 79,552 60,982 45,542

Interest Expense

Deposits 23,408 11,909 10,089
Short-term borrowings 3,821 1,070 207
Long-term debt 1,418 1,418 1,356

Total interest expense 28,647 14,397 11,652

Net interest income 50,905 46,585 33,890
Provision for loan losses 1,560 2,646 1,695

Net interest income after provision for loan losses 49,345 43,939 32,195

Noninterest Income

Service charges and other fees 12,430 10,252 7,968
Other operating income 466 414 377
Gains on sales of loans 1,320 630 765
Gains (losses) on sales of securities (60) 0 880

Total noninterest income 14,156 11,296 9,990

Noninterest Expenses

Salaries and employee benefits 26,267 21,824 16,702
Occupancy 5,380 4,375 3,420
Furniture and equipment 2,733 2,503 1,844
Advertising and marketing 3,461 3,108 2,425
Data processing 3,843 2,922 2,148
Postage and supplies 1,308 1,141 986
Other 7,411 6,593 4,985

Total noninterest expenses 50,403 42,466 32,510

Income before taxes 13,098 12,769 9,675
Provision for federal income taxes 4,281 4,178 3,118

Net income $ 8,817 $ 8,591 $ 6,557

Net Income per Common Share

Basic $ 1.47 $ 1.75 $ 1.44
Diluted $ 1.38 $ 1.63 $ 1.34

Average Common and Common Equivalent Shares Outstanding

Basic 5,948 4,856 4,506
Diluted 6,318 5,218 4,836

See accompanying notes

Consolidated Statements of Income
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive

Preferred Common Retained Income
(dollars in thousands ) Stock Stock Surplus  Earnings (Loss)  Total

January 1, 2003 $400 $2,117 $31,909 $ 6,866 $ 1,520 $42,812

Comprehensive income:
Net income – – – 6,557 – 6,557
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on securities,

net of taxes and reclassification adjustment – – – – (971) (971)
Total comprehensive income 5,586
Dividends declared on preferred stock – – – (80) – (80)
Common stock of 48,226 shares issued under

stock option plans, including tax benefit of $178 – 48 686 – – 734
Common stock of 110 shares issued under

employee stock purchase plan – – 4 – – 4
Proceeds from issuance of 16,950 shares of

common stock in connection with dividend
reinvestment and stock purchase plan – 17 660 – – 677

5% common stock dividend and cash paid in lieu
of fractional shares (109,430 shares issued) – 110 5,466 (5,585) – (9)

December 31, 2003 $400 $2,292 $38,725 $ 7,758 $ 549 $49,724

Comprehensive income:
Net income – – – 8,591 – 8,591
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on securities,

net of taxes – – – – (600) (600)
Total comprehensive income 7,991
Dividends declared on preferred stock – – – (80) – (80)
Common stock of 68,204 shares issued under

stock option plans, including tax benefit of $319 – 68 1,233 – – 1,301
Common stock of 590 shares issued under

employee stock purchase plan – 1 27 – – 28
Proceeds from issuance of 13,842 shares of

common stock in connection with
dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan – 14 661 – – 675

Proceeds from issuance of 560,000 shares of
common stock in connection with stock offerings – 560 24,848 – – 25,408

Other stock transactions (362 shares issued) – – 231 (239) – (8)
2-for-1 stock split in the form of a dividend

(2,934,803 shares issued) – 2,935 (2,935) – – –

December 31, 2004 $400 $5,870 $62,790 $16,030 $   (51) $85,039

Comprehensive income:
Net income – – – 8,817 – 8,817
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on securities,

net of taxes and reclassification adjustment – – – – (4,346) (4,346)
Total comprehensive income 4,471
Dividends declared on preferred stock – – – (80) – (80)
Common stock of 96,144 shares issued under

stock option plans, including tax benefit of $474 – 96 1,252 – – 1,348
Common stock of 340 shares issued under

employee stock purchase plan – – 14 – – 14
Proceeds from issuance of 23,989 shares of

common stock in connection with
dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan – 24 759 – – 783

Accelerated vesting of stock options – – 68 – – 68
Other stock transactions (23,780 shares issued) – 24 (24) – – –

December 31, 2005 $400 $6,014 $64,859 $24,767 $(4,397) $91,643

See accompanying notes
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Operating Activities

Net income $ 8,817 $ 8,591 $ 6,557
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Provision for loan losses 1,560 2,646 1,695
Provision for depreciation and amortization 3,006 2,397 1,831
Deferred income taxes (1,303) 708 285
Amortization of securities premiums and

accretion of discounts, net 1,216 1,219 3,036
Net (gains) losses on sales of securities 60 0 (880)
Proceeds from sales of loans 104,627 75,619 106,950
Loans originated for sale (100,032) (80,112) (104,835)
Gains on sales of loans held for sale (1,320) (630) (765)
Noncash compensation 68 0 0
(Increase) decrease in other assets (1,026) 8,035 (10,724)
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities (11,265) 14,443 (93)

Net cash provided by operating activities 4,408 32,916 3,057

Investing Activities

Securities held to maturity:
Proceeds from principal repayments and maturities 49,709 36,967 45,855
Proceeds from sales 5,456 0 0
Purchases (151,046) (46,893) (148,228)

Securities available for sale:
Proceeds from principal repayments and maturities 94,077 113,389 191,681
Proceeds from sales 55,263 0 8,294
Purchases (224,441) (154,071) (273,431)

Proceeds from sale of loans receivable 10,005 0 0
Net increase in loans receivable (188,082) (171,205) (107,897)
Net (purchase) redemption of restricted investments in bank stock (5,747) (489) (3,182)
Purchases of premises and equipment (24,082) (9,407) (13,600)

Net cash used by investing activities (378,888) (231,709) (300,508)

Financing Activities

Net increase in demand, interest checking,
money market, and savings deposits 193,634 224,257 166,787

Net increase in time deposits 16,881 29,763 12,785
Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings 157,900 (79,000) 79,000
Proceeds from common stock options exercised 874 982 556
Proceeds from dividend reinvestment and

common stock purchase plan 783 675 677
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in connection

with stock offerings 0 25,408 0
Cash dividends on preferred stock and cash in lieu of fractional shares (80) (97) (89)

Net cash provided by financing activities 369,992 201,988 259,716

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (4,488) 3,195 (37,735)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 40,910 37,715 75,450

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end $ 36,422 $ 40,910 $ 37,715

See accompanying notes.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

The 2005 and 2004 consolidated financial statements in-
clude the accounts of Pennsylvania Commerce Bancorp,
Inc. (the Company) and its wholly-owned subsidiary Com-
merce Bank/Harrisburg, N.A. (Commerce or Bank). The
2003 consolidated financial statements also include Com-
merce Harrisburg Capital Trust I (Trust I) and Commerce
Harrisburg Capital Trust II (Trust II). All material intercom-
pany transactions have been eliminated. The Company was
formed July 1, 1999 and is subject to regulation of the Fed-
eral Reserve Bank.

In 2004, as a result of applying the provisions of FASB In-
terpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest En-
tities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51,” which represented
new accounting guidance governing when an equity in-
terest should be consolidated, the Company was required
to deconsolidate Trust I and Trust II from its financial state-
ments. Prior periods have not been restated. The
deconsolidation of the net assets and results of operations
of the trusts had virtually no impact on the Company’s
financial statements or liquidity since the Company con-
tinues to be obligated to repay the debentures held by the
trusts and guarantees repayment of the preferred securi-
ties issued by the trusts. The Company’s total debt obliga-
tion related to the trusts did increase, however, from $13.0
million to $13.6 million upon deconsolidation, with the
difference representing the Company’s common ownership
interest in the Trusts, which is now reported in “Other as-
sets.”

The Company is a one-bank holding company head-
quartered in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania and provides full
banking services through its subsidiary Commerce Bank.
As a national bank, Commerce is subject to regulation of
the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and the Fed-
eral Deposit Insurance Corporation. The Bank serves pri-
marily the Harrisburg, York, and Reading markets of South
Central Pennsylvania.

Estimates

The financial statements are prepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. These principles require management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and require disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. In the opinion of man-
agement, all adjustments considered necessary for fair pre-
sentation have been included and are of a normal, recurring
nature. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to sig-
nificant change in the near term relate to the determina-

tion of the allowance for loan losses, the valuation of de-
ferred tax assets, and the valuation of securities available
for sale.

Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk

Most of the Company’s activities are with customers lo-
cated within the South Central Pennsylvania Region. Note
3 discusses the types of securities that the Company in-
vests in. Notes 4 and 6 discuss the types of lending that
the Company engages in as well as loan concentrations.
The Company does not have any significant concentra-
tions to any one industry or customer.

Securities

Securities classified as held to maturity are those debt se-
curities that the Company has both the intent and ability
to hold to maturity regardless of changes in market condi-
tions, liquidity needs, or general economic conditions.
These securities are carried at cost adjusted for amortiza-
tion of premium and accretion of discount, computed by
the interest method over the estimated average life of the
securities.

Securities classified as available for sale are those debt se-
curities that the Company intends to hold for an indefi-
nite period of time, but not necessarily to maturity. Any
decision to sell a security classified as available for sale
would be based on various factors, including significant
movements in interest rates, changes in the maturity mix
of the Company’s assets and liabilities, liquidity needs,
regulatory capital considerations, and other similar factors.
Securities available for sale are carried at fair value. Unre-
alized gains or losses are reported in other comprehensive
income, net of the related deferred tax effect. Realized gains
or losses, determined on the basis of the cost of specific
securities sold, are included in earnings. Premiums and dis-
counts are recognized in interest income using the inter-
est method over the estimated average life of the securities.
Declines in the fair value of held-to-maturity and available-
for-sale securities below their cost that are deemed to be
other than temporary are reflected in earnings as realized
losses. In estimating other-than-temporary impairment
losses, management considers (1) the length of time and
the extent to which the fair value has been less than cost,
(2) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the
issuer, and (3) the intent and ability of the Company to
retain its investment in the issuer for a period of time suf-
ficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value.

Management determines the appropriate classification of
debt securities at the time of purchase and re-evaluates such
designation as of each balance sheet date.
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Loans Receivable

Loans receivable that management has the intent and abil-
ity to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or
payoff are stated at their outstanding unpaid principal bal-
ances, net of an allowance for loan losses and any deferred
fees and costs. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid
principal balance. Loan origination fees and costs are de-
ferred and recognized as an adjustment of the yield (inter-
est income) of the related loans. The Bank is generally
amortizing these amounts over the contractual life of the
loan.

The accrual of interest is generally discontinued when the
contractual payment of principal or interest has become
90 days past due or management has serious doubts about
further collectibility of principal or interest, even though
the loan is currently performing. A loan may remain on
accrual status if it is in the process of collection and is ei-
ther guaranteed or well secured. When a loan is placed on
nonaccrual status, unpaid interest credited to income in
the current year is reversed and unpaid interest accrued in
prior years is charged against the allowance for loan losses.
Interest received on nonaccrual loans generally is either
applied against principal or reported as interest income,
according to management’s judgment as to the
collectibility of principal. Generally, loans are restored to
accrual status when the obligation is brought current, has
performed in accordance with the contractual terms for a
reasonable period of time and the ultimate collectibility
of the total contractual principal and interest is no longer
in doubt.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses is established through pro-
visions for loan losses charged against income. Loans
deemed to be uncollectible are charged against the allow-
ance for loan losses, and subsequent recoveries, if any, are
credited to the allowance. The evaluation is inherently sub-
jective as it requires estimates that are susceptible to sig-
nificant revision as more information becomes available.

The allowance consists of specific and general components.
The specific component relates to loans that are classified
impaired. For such loans, an allowance is established when
the discounted cash flows (or collateral value or observ-
able market price) of the impaired loan is lower than the
carrying value of that loan. The general component cov-
ers non-classified loans and is based on historical loss ex-
perience adjusted for qualitative factors. Additionally, the
general component is maintained to cover uncertainties
that could affect management’s estimates of probable
losses. This component reflects the margin of imprecision
inherent in the underlying assumptions used in the meth-
odologies for estimating losses in the portfolio.

The allowance for loan losses is maintained at a level con-
sidered adequate to provide for losses that can be reason-
ably anticipated. Management’s periodic evaluation of the
adequacy of the allowance is based on the Bank’s past loan
loss experience, known and inherent risks in the portfo-
lio, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s abil-
ity to repay, the estimated value of any underlying
collateral, composition of the loan portfolio, current eco-
nomic conditions, and other relevant factors. This evalua-
tion is inherently subjective as it requires material estimates
that may be susceptible to significant change, including
the amounts and timing of future cash flows expected to
be received on impaired loans. A loan is considered im-
paired when, based on current information and events, it
is probable that the Bank will be unable to collect the
scheduled payments of principal or interest when due ac-
cording to the contractual terms of the loan agreement.
Factors considered by management in determining impair-
ment include payment status, collateral value and the prob-
ability of collecting scheduled principal and interest
payments when due. Loans that experience insignificant
payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not
classified as impaired. Management determines the signifi-
cance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on a case-
by-case basis, taking into consideration all of the
circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower, in-
cluding the length of the delay, the reasons for the delay,
the borrower’s prior payment record and the amount of
the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed.
Impairment is measured on a loan by loan basis for com-
mercial and construction loans by either the present value
of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s ef-
fective interest rate, the loan’s obtainable market price or
the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral de-
pendent.

All nonaccrual loans, including any non-homogenous port-
folio residential mortgages and home equity loans with
balances greater than $25,000, are evaluated individually
to determine whether a valuation allowance is necessary
due to collateral deficiencies that may exist within the loan.
Large groups of smaller balance homogeneous loans are
collectively evaluated for impairment, unless such loans
are the subject of a restructuring agreement.

Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for sale are comprised of student loans and se-
lected residential loans the Company originates with the
intention of selling in the future. Occasionally, loans held
for sale also include selected small business administration
loans and business and industry loans that the Company
decides to sell. These loans are carried at the lower of cost
or estimated fair value, calculated in the aggregate.
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Restricted Investments in Bank Stock

Restricted investments in bank stocks include Federal Home
Loan Bank (FHLB) and Federal Reserve Bank Stocks. Fed-
eral law requires a member institution of the FHLB system
to hold stock of its district FHLB according to a predeter-
mined formula. At December 31, 2005, $6.6 million of the
Company’s $8.9 million of FHLB stock was purchased to
cover the Company’s borrowing level on its credit line at
the FHLB. The stock is carried at cost.

Advertising Costs

The Company follows the policy of charging the costs of
advertising to expense as incurred.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided on the liability method
whereby deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible
temporary differences and deferred tax liabilities are rec-
ognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary dif-
ferences are the differences between the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are adjusted through the provision for
income taxes for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates
on the date of enactment.

Bank Premises and Equipment

Bank premises and equipment are carried at cost less accu-
mulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is
charged to operations over the estimated useful lives of the
respective assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized
over the terms of the respective leases or the estimated use-
ful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter. De-
preciation and amortization are determined on the
straight-line methods for financial reporting purposes, and
accelerated methods for income tax purposes.

Foreclosed Assets

Assets acquired through, or in lieu of, loan foreclosure are
held for sale and are initially recorded at fair value at the
date of foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis. Subse-
quent to foreclosure, valuations are periodically performed
by management and the assets are carried at the lower of
carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. Revenue and
expenses from operations and changes in the valuation al-
lowance are included in net expenses from foreclosed as-
sets. Foreclosed assets are included in other assets.

Transfers of Financial Assets

Transfers of financial assets, including sales of loans and
loan participations, are accounted for as sales, when con-
trol over the assets has been surrendered. Control over
transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (1)
the assets have been isolated from the Company, (2) the
transferee obtains the right (free of conditions that con-
strain it from taking advantage of that right) to pledge or
exchange the transferred assets, and (3) the Company does
not maintain effective control over the transferred assets
through an agreement to repurchase them before their
maturity.

Per Share Data

Basic earnings per share represent income available to com-
mon stockholders divided by the weighted-average num-
ber of common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted earnings per share reflect additional common
shares that would have been outstanding if dilutive po-
tential common shares had been issued as well as any ad-
justments to income that would result from the assumed
issuance. Potential common shares that may be issued by
the Company relate solely to outstanding stock options,
and are determined using the treasury stock method. Per
share amounts have been adjusted to give retroactive ef-
fect to stock dividends and stock splits declared through
January 28, 2005.

Off Balance Sheet Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Company has en-
tered into off balance sheet financial instruments consist-
ing of commitments to extend credit, commercial letters
of credit, and standby letters of credit. Such financial in-
struments are recorded on the balance sheet when they
become payable by the borrower to the Company.

Cash Flow Information

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Com-
pany considers cash and due from banks and federal funds
sold as cash and cash equivalents. Generally, federal funds
are purchased and sold for one-day periods. Cash paid dur-
ing the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003
for interest was $28.5 million, $14.4 million, and $12.0 mil-
lion respectively. Income taxes paid totaled $3.9 million,
$3.7 million, and $2.5 million in 2005, 2004, and 2003,
respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock awards issued to direc-
tors, officers, and key employees using the intrinsic value
method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board
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Opinion No. 25. This method requires that compensation
expense be recognized to the extent that the fair value of
the stock exceeds the exercise price of the stock award at
the grant date. The Company generally does not recog-
nize compensation expense related to stock awards because
the stock awards generally have fixed terms and exercise
prices that are equal to or greater than the fair value of the
Company’s common stock at the grant date.

For purposes of pro-forma disclosures, the estimated fair
value of the options is amortized to expense over the op-
tions’ vesting period. The Company’s pro-forma informa-
tion is presented in the following table.

(in thousands, Year Ended December 31,
except per share amounts) 2005 2004 2003

Net income:
As reported $8,817 $8,591 $6,557
Total stock-based
compensation cost,
net of tax, that would
have been included in the
determination of net income
if the fair value based method
had been applied to all awards (2,542) (1,121) (814)

Pro-forma $6,275 $7,470 $5,743

Reported earnings per share:
Basic $ 1.47 $ 1.75 $ 1.44
Diluted 1.38 1.63 1.34

Pro-forma earnings per share:
Basic $ 1.04 $1.52 $1.26
Diluted 0.97 1.42 1.17

The fair value of each option grant is estimated at the date
of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with
the following weighted-average assumptions for 2005,
2004, and 2003 respectively: risk-free interest rates of 4.1%,
3.6% and 3.4%; volatility factors of the expected market
price of the Company’s common stock of .26, .21, and .21;
weighted-average expected life of the options of 7.3, 6.1,
and 10.0 years; and no cash dividends.

Had compensation costs for stock options granted in 2005,
2004 and 2003 been determined based on the fair value at
the grant dates for awards under the plan consistent with
the provisions of SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net income
and earnings per share for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003 would have been reduced to the pro-
forma amounts indicated.

On December 16, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors
approved the accelerated vesting of all outstanding
unvested stock options awarded prior to July 1, 2005 to
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employees and directors. This acceleration was effective as
of December 18, 2005. The decision to accelerate the vest-
ing of the options was to enable the Company to reduce
the amount of non-cash compensation expense that would
have been recorded in the Company’s income statement
in future periods upon the adoption of Financial Account-
ing Standards Board (FASB) Statement No. 123(R), “Share-
Based Payment” in January 2006. The Company has placed
a restriction on the members of senior management and
the Board of Directors that would prevent the sale, or any
other transfer, of any stock obtained through exercise of
an accelerated option prior to the earlier of the original
vesting date or the individual’s termination of employ-
ment.

As a result of the acceleration, options to purchase approxi-
mately 176,000 shares of common stock became immedi-
ately exercisable. The Company estimates that the
accelerated vesting of these options will eliminate poten-
tial pre-tax compensation expense in future periods of ap-
proximately $1.8 million, including approximately
$700,000 in 2006.

The Company recorded a one-time charge in the fourth
quarter of 2005 of approximately $70,000, or $.01 per
share, as a result of the accelerated vesting.

Recent Accounting Standards

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”)
reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-1, “The Meaning of
Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to
Certain Investments.” EITF 03-1 provides guidance on
other-than-temporary impairment models for marketable
debt and equity securities accounted for under Statements
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 115 and non-
marketable equity securities accounted for under the cost
method. The EITF developed a basic three-step model to
evaluate whether an investment is other-than-temporarily
impaired. In November 2005, the FASB approved the issu-
ance of FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) SFAS No. 115-1 and FAS
124-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impair-
ment and Its Application to Certain Investments.” The FSP
addresses when an investment is considered impaired,
whether the impairment is other-than-temporary and the
measurement of an impairment loss. The FSP also includes
accounting considerations subsequent to the recognition
of an other-than-temporary impairment and requires cer-
tain disclosures about unrealized losses that have not been
recognized as other-than-temporary. The FSP is effective
for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2005
with earlier application permitted. The Company plans to
adopt the FSP in the 1st quarter of fiscal 2006. The adop-
tion of this accounting principle is not expected to have a
significant impact on the Company’s financial position or
results of operations.
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In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 123(R),
“Share-Based Payment.” Statement No. 123(R) revised FAS
123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and su-
persedes Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No.
25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and its
related implementation guidance. FAS 123(R) requires com-
pensation costs related to share-based payment transactions
to be recognized in the income statement (with limited
exceptions) based on their fair values and no longer allows
pro-forma disclosure as an alternative to reflecting the im-
pact of share-based payments on net income and net in-
come per share. The amount of compensation cost will be
measured based on the grant-date fair value of the stock-
based compensation issued. Compensation cost will be rec-
ognized over the period that an employee provides service
in exchange for the award.

In October 2005, the FASB issued FSP FAS 123(R)-2, “Prac-
tical Accommodation to the Application of Grant Date as
Defined in FAS 123(R).” FSP 123(R)-2 provides guidance on
the application of grant date as defined in SFAS No. 123(R).
In accordance with this standard, a grant date of an award
exists if a) the award is a unilateral grant and b) the key
terms and conditions of the award are expected to be com-
municated to an individual recipient within a relatively
short time period from the date of approval. The Com-
pany will adopt this standard at the same time as SFAS
No. 123(R). It is not expected to have a material impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results
of operations, or cash flows.

In November 2005, the FASB issued final FSP FAS
No. 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related to Accounting
for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards” (“FSP
123(R)-3”). FSP 123(R)-3 provides an alternative method
of calculating excess tax benefits (the APIC pool) from the
method defined in FAS 123(R) for share-based payments.
A one-time election to adopt the transition method in this
FSP is available to those entities adopting FAS 123(R) us-
ing either the modified retrospective or modified prospec-
tive method. Up to one year from the initial adoption of
FAS 123(R) or effective date of FSP 123(R)-3 is provided to
make this one-time election. However, until an entity
makes its election, it must follow the guidance in FAS
123(R). FSP 123(R)-3 is effective upon initial adoption of
FAS 123(R) and will become effective for the Company in
the first quarter of fiscal 2006. The Company is currently
evaluating the potential impact of calculating the APIC
pool with this alternative method and has not determined
which method to adopt, or the expected impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial position or results of
operations.

The Company expects the adoption of SFAS 123(R) to have
an unfavorable impact on its financial position and results
of operations. See Note 1, “Summary of Significant Ac-
counting Policies,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for information related to the pro forma effects
on the Company’s reported net income and net income
per share of applying the fair value recognition provision
of the previous SFAS 123 to stock-based compensation.

The impact on reported results of adoption of this state-
ment, which the Company will be required to utilize for
periods beginning January 1, 2006, is presented in Note 1
above. The impact on operations in future periods will be
determined by amortizing the value imputed to future op-
tion grants using the above described methods. There is
no impact on cash flow.

The Company will adopt SFAS 123(R) using the modified
prospective method with no prior period restatement and
have recorded a one-time charge in the fourth quarter of
2005 of approximately $70,000, or $.01 per share, as a re-
sult of the accelerated vesting. Any additional impact that
the adoption of this statement will have on the Company’s
financial position and results of operations will be deter-
mined by share-based payments granted in future periods
and the assumptions on which the value of those share-
based payments is based.

In May 2005, FASB issued SFAS 154, “Accounting Changes
and Error Corrections”. The Statement requires retroactive
application of a voluntary change in accounting principle
to prior period financial statements unless it is impracti-
cable. SFAS 154 also requires that a change in method of
depreciation, amortization, or depletion for long-lived,
non-financial assets be accounted for as a change in ac-
counting estimate that is affected by a change in account-
ing principle.  SFAS 154 replaces APB Opinion 20,
“Accounting Changes”, and SFAS 3, “Reporting Account-
ing Changes in Interim Financial Statements”. SFAS 154
will be effective for accounting changes and corrections of
errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2005. Management currently believes that adoption of the
provisions of SFAS 154 will not have a material impact on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In October 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FAS
13-1 (“FSP 13-1”), which requires companies to expense
rental costs associated with ground or building operating
leases that are incurred during a construction period. As a
result, companies that are currently capitalizing these rental
costs are required to expense them beginning in its first
reporting period beginning after December 15, 2005. FSP
13-1 is effective for the Company as of the first quarter of
fiscal 2006. The Company evaluated the provisions of FSP
13-1 and does not believe that its adoption will have a
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material impact on the consolidated financial condition
or results of operations.

Segment Reporting

Commerce acts as an independent community financial
services provider, and offers traditional banking and related
financial services to individual, business and government
customers. Through its stores, the Company offers a full
array of commercial and retail financial services.

Management does not separately allocate expenses, includ-
ing the cost of funding loan demand, between the com-
mercial and retail operations of the Company. As such,
discrete financial information is not available and segment
reporting would not be meaningful.

Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the 2004 and 2003 financial statements
have been reclassified to conform to the 2005 presenta-
tion format. Such reclassifications had no impact on the
Company’s net income.

2. Restrictions on Cash and Due From
Bank Accounts

The Bank is required to maintain average reserves, in the
form of cash and balances with the Federal Reserve Bank,
against its deposit liabilities. The average amount of these
reserve balances maintained for 2005 and 2004 was ap-
proximately $19.0 million and $16.3 million, respectively.
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3. Securities

The amortized cost and fair value of securities are summarized in the following tables.

December 31, 2005

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

(in thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value

Available for Sale
U.S. Government Agency securities $ 5,000 $ 0 $   (208) $ 4,792
Mortgage-backed securities 382,498 67 (6,521) 376,044

     Total $387,498 $ 67 $(6,729) $380,836

Held to Maturity
U.S. Government Agency securities $136,135 $ 0 $(1,976) $134,159
Municipal securities 2,617 8 (3) 2,622
Mortgage-backed securities 150,394 130 (3,189) 147,335
Corporate debt securities 17,120 742  0 17,862

     Total $306,266 $880 $(5,168) $301,978
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December 31, 2004

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

(in thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value

Available for Sale
U.S. Government Agency securities $ 10,000 $ 0 $ (202) $ 9,798
Mortgage-backed securities 302,133 1,614 (1,660) 302,087
Corporate debt securities 2,009 171 0 2,180

     Total $314,142 $1,785 $(1,862) $314,065

Held to Maturity
U.S. Government Agency securities $ 70,981 $ 49 $ (663) $ 70,367
Municipal securities 6,827 36 (29) 6,834
Mortgage-backed securities 114,963 1,051 (715) 115,299
Corporate debt securities 17,146 1,262  0 18,408

     Total $209,917 $2,398 $(1,407) $210,908

The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities at December 31, 2005 by contractual maturity are shown in the follow-
ing table. Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay
obligations.

Held to Maturity Available for Sale

Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
(in thousands) Cost Value Cost Value

Due in one year or less $ 2,103 $ 2,105 $ 0 $ 0
Due after one year through five years 16,485 16,715 0 0
Due after five years through ten years 101,788 100,269 0 0
Due after ten years 35,496 35,554 5,000 4,792

155,872 154,643 5,000 4,792
Mortgage-backed securities 150,394 147,335 382,498 376,044

     Total $306,266 $301,978 $387,498 $380,836

Gross gains of $186,000 and gross losses of $859,000 were
realized in sales of securities available for sale in 2005. Ad-
ditionally, gross gains of $613,000 and gross losses of $0
were realized on sales of securities held to maturity. The
sale of the held to maturity security consisted of a $5.5 mil-
lion municipal bond which was sold solely due to a con-
tinued deterioration in the issuer’s creditworthiness.

There were no sales of securities available for sale or held
to maturity in 2004.

Gross gains of $640,000 and gross losses of $0 were real-
ized on sales of securities available for sale in 2003. Addi-
tionally, gross gains of $240,000 and gross losses of $0 were
realized on sales of securities held to maturity. The sale of
securities held to maturity consisted of $4.5 million of cor-
porate bonds which were sold solely due to a continued
deterioration in the issuer’s creditworthiness over the past
three years.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, securities with a fair value
of $470.1 million and $337.8 million respectively, were
pledged to secure public deposits and for other purposes
as required or permitted by law.
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The following table shows the Company’s investments’ gross unrealized losses and fair value, aggregated by investment
category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position.

December 31, 2005

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
(in thousands) Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

Available for Sale
U.S. Government Agency securities $ 4,792 $ (208) $ 0 $ 0 $ 4,792 $ (208)
Mortgage-backed securities 285,951 (4,267) 86,506 (2,254) 372,457 (6,521)

Total $290,743 $(4,475) $86,506 $(2,254) $377,249 $(6,729)

Held to Maturity
U.S. Government Agency securities $112,823 $(1,312) $21,336 $ (664) $134,159 $(1,976)
Municipal securities 1,122 (3) 0 0 1,122 (3)
Mortgage-backed securities 94,200 (1,671) 38,486 (1,518) 132,686 (3,189)

Total $208,145 $(2,986) $59,822 $(2,182) $267,967 $(5,168)

December 31, 2004

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
(in thousands) Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

Available for Sale
U.S. Government Agency securities $ 4,895 $ (105) $ 4,903 $ (97) $ 9,798 $ (202)
Mortgage-backed securities 152,354 (1,456) 12,408 (204) 164,762 (1,660)

Total $157,249 $(1,561) $17,311 $(301) $174,560 $(1,862)

Held to Maturity
U.S. Government Agency securities $ 26,900 $ (80) $29,417 $(583) $ 56,317 $ (663)
Municipal securities 4,800 (29) 0 0 4,800 (29)
Mortgage-backed securities 36,597 (438) 21,351 (277) 57,948 (715)

Total $ 68,297 $ (547) $50,768 $(860) $119,065 $(1,407)
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At December 31, 2005, 63 mortgage-backed securities, 12
U.S. Government Agency securities, and 3 municipal se-
curities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position
for less than twelve months. For the same period, 33 mort-
gage-backed securities and 4 U.S. Government Agency se-
curities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position
for twelve months or more.

The unrealized losses on the Company’s investments in
direct obligations of U.S. Government Agency securities
were caused by interest rate increases. The contractual terms
of those investments do not permit the issuer to settle the
securities at a price less than the amortized cost of the in-
vestment. Because the Company has the ability and in-
tent to hold those investments until a recovery of fair value,
which may be maturity, the Company does not consider

those investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired
at December 31, 2005.

The unrealized losses on the Company’s investment in fed-
eral agency mortgage-backed securities were caused by in-
terest rate increases. The Company purchased those
investments at a discount relative to their face amount,
and the contractual cash flows of those investments are
guaranteed by an agency of the U.S. government. Accord-
ingly, it is expected that the securities would not be settled
at a price less than the amortized cost of the Company’s
investment. Because the decline in market value is attrib-
utable to changes in interest rates and not credit quality,
and because the Company has the ability and intent to
hold those investments until a recovery of fair value, which
may be maturity, the Company does not consider those
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investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at De-
cember 31, 2005.

In management’s opinion, the unrealized losses reflect
changes in general market interest rates subsequent to the
acquisition of specific securities and represent only tem-
porary impairment of the securities. The Company believes
it will collect all amounts contractually due on these secu-
rities as it has the ability to hold these securities until the
fair value is at least equal to the carrying value.

4. Loans Receivable and Allowance
for Loan Losses

A summary of loans receivable is as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004

Real Estate:
Commercial Mortgage $299,219 $239,576
Construction and land
development 47,334 39,467

Residential Mortgage 83,213 79,672
Tax-Exempt 17,055 6,303

Commercial Business 138,174 97,198
Consumer 148,906 109,568
Commercial Lines of Credit 90,769 74,559

824,670 646,343
Less: Allowance for Loan Losses 9,231 7,847

Net Loans Receivable $815,439 $638,496

The following is a summary of the transactions in the al-
lowance for loan losses.

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Balance at beginning of year $7,847 $6,007 $5,146
Provision charged to expense 1,560 2,646 1,695
Recoveries 596 231 266
Loans charged off (772) (1,037) (1,100)

Balance at end of year $9,231 $7,847 $6,007

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the recorded investment
in loans considered to be impaired under FASB Statement
No. 114 “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a
Loan” totaled $6.9 million and $9.4 million, respectively.
At December 31, 2005, $1.4 million of impaired loans have
a specific valuation allowance of $740,000 as compared to
$2.3 million of impaired loans having a specific valuation
allowance of $1.3 million at December 31, 2004. Total

nonaccrual loans at December 31, 2005 and 2004 totaled
$2.3 million and $586,000, respectively.  Loans past due
90 days or more and still accruing interest totaled $233,000
at December 31, 2005 and $0 at December 31, 2004.

Impaired loans averaged approximately $7.3 million, $8.9
million and $5.5 million during 2005, 2004 and 2003, re-
spectively. Interest income recognized on these loans
amounted to $682,000, $507,000 and $41,000 during 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively.

Certain directors and executive officers of the Company,
including their associates and companies, have loans with
the Bank. Such loans were made in the ordinary course of
business at the Bank’s normal credit terms including in-
terest rate and collateralization, and do not represent more
than a normal risk of collection. Total loans to these per-
sons and companies amounted to approximately $13.6
million and $14.6 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. During 2005, $3.6 million of new advances
were made and repayments totaled $4.6 million.

5. Loan Commitments and Standby
Letters of Credit

Loan commitments are made to accommodate the finan-
cial needs of Commerce’s customers. Standby letters of
credit commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of
customers when certain specified future events occur. They
primarily are issued to facilitate the customers’ normal
course of business transactions. Historically, almost all of
the Bank’s standby letters of credit expire unfunded.

Both types of lending arrangements have credit risk essen-
tially the same as that involved in extending loans to cus-
tomers and are subject to the Bank’s normal credit policies.
Letter of credit commitments are agreements to lend to a
customer as long as there is no violation of any condition
established in the contract. Since many of the commit-
ments are expected to expire without being drawn upon,
the total commitment amounts do not necessarily repre-
sent future cash requirements. Commitments generally
have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses
and may require payment of a fee.

Outstanding letters of credit written are conditional com-
mitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the performance
of a customer to a third party. The majority of these
standby letters of credit expire within the next twenty-four
months. The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit
is essentially the same as that involved in extending other
loan commitments. The Bank requires collateral support-
ing these letters of credit as deemed necessary. Manage-
ment believes that the proceeds obtained through a
liquidation of such collateral would be sufficient to cover
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the maximum potential amount of future payments re-
quired under the corresponding guarantees. The current
amount of the liability as of December 31, 2005 for guar-
antees under standby letters of credit issued is not mate-
rial.

The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit loss for loan com-
mitments (unfunded loans and unused lines of credit, in-
cluding home equity lines of credit) and standby letters of
credit outstanding were as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004

Commitments to grant loans $ 16,145 $ 3,668
Unfunded commitments
  of existing loans 290,608 188,869
Standby letters of credit 16,037 10,929

Total $322,790 $203,466

6. Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company’s loan portfolio is principally to borrowers
throughout Cumberland, Dauphin, York, Lebanon and
Berks counties of Pennsylvania where it has full-service
stores. Commercial real estate loans and loan commitments
for commercial real estate projects aggregated $383.8 mil-
lion at December 31, 2005.

Commercial real estate loans are collateralized by the re-
lated project (principally office buildings, multifamily resi-
dential, land development, and other properties) and the
Company generally requires loan-to-value ratios of no
greater than 80%. Collateral requirements on such loans
are determined on a case-by-case basis based on
management’s credit evaluations of the respective borrow-
ers.

7. Bank Premises, Equipment and
Leases

Bank premises and equipment are stated at cost less accu-
mulated depreciation. Depreciation expense for 2005 was
$3.0 million and is computed on the straight-line method
over the following estimated useful lives of the related as-
sets:

Years

Buildings and leasehold improvements 1 - 39.5
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 - 10
Computer equipment and software 3 - 5

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A summary of premises and equipment is as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004

Land $11,707 $10,325
Buildings 35,969 27,829
Construction in process 12,819 2,495
Leasehold improvements 3,661 3,122
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 17,189 13,667

81,345 57,438
Less accumulated depreciation
and amortization 15,081 12,250

$66,264 $45,188

Land, buildings, and equipment are leased under non-
cancelable operating lease agreements that expire at vari-
ous dates through 2032. Total rental expense for operating
leases in 2005, 2004, and 2003 was $2.3 million, $1.7 mil-
lion, and $1.4 million, respectively. At December 31, 2005,
future minimum lease payments for noncancelable oper-
ating leases are payable as follows:

(in thousands)

2006 $ 1,948
2007 1,835
2008 1,887
2009 1,708
2010 1,708
Thereafter 26,183

Total minimum lease payments $35,269

The Company has the option to extend the majority of its
store leases beyond the original terms. If the Company ex-
ercised its options, the Company would experience an ad-
ditional $39.0 million in additional lease payments.

8. Deposits

The composition of deposits is as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004

Demand $ 248,101 $ 206,393
Interest checking and money market 548,909 435,859
Savings 345,181 306,305
Time certificates $100,000 or more 125,099 104,955
Other time certificates 103,772 107,035

$1,371,062 $1,160,547
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At December 31, 2005, the scheduled maturities of time
deposits are as follows:

(in thousands)

2006 $114,530
2007 46,048
2008 15,402
2009 19,531
2010 33,360

$228,871

9. Short-term Borrowings

Short-term borrowings consist of securities sold under
agreements to repurchase and lines of credit. The Bank has
a line of credit commitment from the Federal Home Loan
Bank (FHLB) for borrowings up to $431 million and cer-
tain qualifying assets of the Bank collateralize the line.
There was $145.2 million outstanding at a rate of 4.22%
at December 31, 2005 and $0 outstanding at December 31,
2004 on this line of credit. The Bank has availability un-
der two repurchase agreements to borrow up to $75 mil-
lion of which $0 was outstanding as of both December 31,
2005 and 2004. The Company did not have any securities
pledged at December 31, 2005 or 2004 under these repur-
chase agreements. In addition, the Bank has a line of credit
of $15 million from another bank.  There was $12.7 mil-
lion outstanding at a rate of 4.50% at December 31, 2005
and $0 outstanding at December 31, 2004 on this line of
credit.

10. Long-term Debt

On June 15, 2000, the Company issued $5 million of 11%
Trust Capital Securities to Commerce Bancorp, Inc. through
Trust I, a Delaware business trust subsidiary. The Trust Capi-
tal Securities evidence a preferred ownership interest in the
Trust, of which the Company owns 100% of the common
equity. The proceeds from the issuance of the Trust Capi-
tal Securities were invested in substantially similar Junior
Subordinated Debt of the Company. The Company uncon-
ditionally guarantees the Trust Capital Securities.  Interest
on the debt is payable quarterly in arrears on March 31,
June 30, September 30, and December 31 of each year. The
Trust Capital Securities are scheduled to mature on June
15, 2030. The Trust Capital Securities may be redeemed in
whole or in part at the option of the Company on or after
June 15, 2010 at 105.50% of the principal plus accrued in-
terest, if any. The redemption price declines by 0.55% on
June 15 of each year from 2011 through 2020 at which
time the securities may be redeemed at 100% of the prin-

cipal plus accrued interest, if any, to the date fixed for re-
demption, subject to certain conditions. All $5 million of
the Trust Capital Securities qualified as Tier 1 capital for
regulatory capital purposes.

On September 28, 2001, the Company issued $8 million
of 10% Trust Capital Securities to Commerce Bancorp, Inc.
through Trust II, a Delaware business trust subsidiary. The
issuance of the Trust Capital Securities has similar proper-
ties as the Trust I. The Trust Capital Securities evidence a
preferred ownership interest in the Trust II of which the
Company owns 100% of the common equity.  The pro-
ceeds from the issuance of the Trust Capital Securities were
invested in substantially similar Junior Subordinated Debt
of the Company. The Company unconditionally guaran-
tees the Trust Capital Securities. Interest on the debt is pay-
able quarterly with similar terms as in the Trust I. The Trust
Capital Securities are scheduled to mature on September
28, 2031. The Trust Capital Securities may be redeemed in
whole or in part at the option of the Company on or after
September 28, 2011 at 105.00% of the principal plus ac-
crued interest, if any. The redemption price declines by
0.50% on September 28 of each year from 2012 through
2021 at which time the securities may be redeemed at 100%
of the principal plus accrued interest, if any, to the date
fixed for redemption, subject to certain conditions. All $8
million of the Trust Capital Securities qualified as Tier 1
capital for regulatory capital purposes.

11. Income Taxes

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes and the
amount that would have been provided at statutory rates
is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Provision at statutory rate
on pre-tax income $4,453 $4,341 $3,289

Tax-exempt income on
loans and investments (245) (226) (218)

Other 73 63 47

$4,281 $4,178 $3,118

The components of income tax expense are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Current $2,978 $3,470 $2,833
Deferred 1,303 708 285

$4,281 $4,178 $3,118
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The components of the net deferred tax assets were as
follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004

Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for loan losses $3,138 $2,668
Unrealized losses on securities 2,265 26
Other 127 120

Total deferred tax assets 5,530 2,814

Deferred tax liabilities:
Premises and equipment (1,436) (1,618)
Prepaid expenses (172) (167)
Deferred loan fees (223) (872)

Total deferred tax liabilities (1,831) (2,657)

Net deferred tax assets $3,699 $ 157

A net income tax benefit of $21,000 was recognized on
net securities losses during 2005. During 2005, 2004 and
2003, the Company received a tax benefit on its federal
income tax return totaling $474,000, $319,000, and
$178,000, respectively for the exercise of non-qualified
stock options and disqualified dispositions of employee
stock from options exercised.

12. Stockholders’ Equity

At December 31, 2005, Commerce Bancorp, Inc., owned
40,000 shares of the Company’s Series A $10 par value non-
cumulative nonvoting preferred stock and warrants that
entitle the holder to purchase 287,332 shares (adjusted for
common stock dividends and splits) of the Company’s
common stock, exercisable at $3.48 per share (adjusted for
common stock dividends and splits), in the event of a
“change in control” (as defined in the Warrant Agreement).
Such warrants are fully transferable and expire on October
7, 2008. None of these warrants were exercised during 2005
or 2004. The preferred stock is redeemable at the option
of the Company at the price of $25 per share plus any un-
paid dividends. Dividends on the preferred stock are pay-
able quarterly at a rate of $2 per share per annum.

The Company has implemented a dividend reinvestment
and stock purchase plan. Holders of common stock may
participate in the plan in which reinvested dividends and
voluntary cash payments of up to $10,000 per month (sub-
ject to change) may be reinvested in additional common
shares at a 3% discount (subject to change) from the cur-
rent market price. Employees who have been continuously
employed for at least one year are also eligible to partici-
pate in the plan under the same terms as listed above for

shareholders. A total of 24,329 and 14,432 common shares
were issued pursuant to this plan in 2005 and 2004, re-
spectively. At December 31, 2005, the Company had re-
served approximately 390,000 common shares to be issued
in connection with the plan.

On January 24, 2003, the Board of Directors declared a 5%
common stock dividend payable on February 24, 2003, to
stockholders of record on February 7, 2003. Payment of
the stock dividend resulted in the issuance of approxi-
mately 101,000 additional common shares.

On January 23, 2004, the Board of Directors declared a 5%
common stock dividend payable on February 23, 2004, to
stockholders of record on February 6, 2004. Payment of
the stock dividend resulted in the issuance of approxi-
mately 109,000 additional common shares.

On September 29, 2004, the Company entered into and
consummated a Stock Purchase Agreement with Commerce
Bancorp, Inc., (“Commerce of New Jersey”). Pursuant to
the Stock Purchase Agreement, Commerce of New Jersey
purchased 100,000 shares of unregistered common stock
of the Company (the “Stock”) for a per share price of
$45.666 and an aggregate price of $4,566,600. Pursuant to
the Stock Purchase Agreement, the per share price was equal
to the average of the closing sale prices of the Company’s
common stock on the NASDAQ National Market for the
five trading day period (i.e. dates in which trades occurred)
ending on September 28, 2004.

On November 2, 2004, the Company completed its offer-
ing of 460,000 shares of its common stock at $49.00 per
share. The 60,000 share underwriters’ option to cover over-
allotments was fully exercised, which is included in the
460,000-share total.

On January 28, 2005, the Board of Directors declared a 2-
for-1 stock split payable on February 25, 2005, to stock-
holders of record on February 10, 2005. Payment of the
stock split resulted in the issuance of approximately 3.0
million additional common shares.

All common stock and per share data included in these
financial statements have been restated for the stock divi-
dends and split.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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13. Earnings per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share.

For the Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

(in thousands except Per Share Per Share Per Share
per share amounts) Income Shares Amount Income Shares Amount Income Shares Amount

Basic earnings per share:
Net income $8,817 $8,591 $6,557
Preferred stock dividends (80) (80) (80)

Income available to
common stockholders 8,737 5,948 $1.47 8,511 4,856 $1.75 6,477 4,506 $1.44

Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options 370 362 330

Diluted earnings per share:
Income available to

common stockholders
plus assumed conversions $8,737 6,318 $1.38 $8,511 5,218 $1.63 $6,477 4,836 $1.34

There were 112,830 options outstanding at a price of $33.50
per option excluded from the computation of diluted earn-
ings per share for the year ended December 31, 2005. All
options outstanding were included in the computation of
diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
December 31, 2003 because the options’ exercise price was
lower than the average market price of the common shares.

14. Stock Option Plans

In 2005, the Board of Directors adopted and the Company’s
shareholders approved the adoption of the 2006 Employee
Stock Option Plan for the Officers and employees of the
Company. The Plan commences January 1, 2006 and re-
places the 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan, which ex-
pired December 31, 2005. The Plan covers 500,000
authorized shares of common stock reserved for issuance
upon exercise of options granted or available for grant to
employees and will expire on December 31, 2015. The Plan
provides that the option price of qualified incentive stock
options will be fixed by the Board of Directors, but will
not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the stock
at the date of grant. In addition, the Plan provides that
the option price of nonqualified stock options (NQSO’s)
also will be fixed by the Board of Directors, however for
NQSO’s the option price may be less than 100% of the fair
market value of the stock at the date of grant. Options

granted are exercisable one year after the grant date, will
vest over a four-year period, and expire ten years after the
grant date.

In 2000, the Board of Directors adopted and the Company’s
shareholders approved the adoption of the 2001 Directors’
Stock Option Plan. The Plan commenced January 1, 2001
and replaced the 1990 Directors’ Stock Option Plan, which
expired December 31, 2000. The Plan covers 243,100 au-
thorized shares of common stock reserved for issuance
upon exercise of options granted or available for grant to
non-employee directors and will expire on December 31,
2010. Under the Company’s Directors’ Stock Option Plan,
each non-employee director of the Company who is not
regularly employed on a salaried basis by the Company
may be entitled to an option to acquire shares, as deter-
mined by the Board of Directors, of the Company’s com-
mon stock during each year in which the Director serves
on the Board. The Plan provides that the option price will
be fixed by the Board of Directors, but will not be less than
100% of the fair market value of the stock on the date of
the grant. Options granted through December 16, 2004 are
exercisable from the earlier of (1) one year after the date
of the option grant, or (2) the date of a change in control
of the Bank. As a result of a plan amendment adopted on
December 17, 2004, options will vest over a four-year pe-
riod.
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On December 16, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors
approved the accelerated vesting of all outstanding
unvested stock options awarded prior to July 1, 2005 to
employees and directors. This acceleration was effective as
of December 18, 2005. The decision to accelerate the vest-
ing of the options is to enable the Company to reduce the
amount of non-cash compensation expense that would
have been recorded in the Company’s income statement
in future periods upon the adoption of Financial Account-
ing Standards Board Statement No. 123(R), “Share-Based
Payment”, in January 2006. The Company has placed a
restriction on senior management and the Board of Direc-
tors that would prevent the sale, or any other transfer, of
any stock obtained through exercise of an accelerated op-
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tion prior to the earlier of the original vesting date or the
individual’s termination of employment.

As a result of the acceleration, options to purchase approxi-
mately 176,000 shares of common stock became immedi-
ately exercisable. The Company estimates that the
accelerated vesting of these options will eliminate poten-
tial pre-tax compensation expense in future periods of ap-
proximately $1.8 million, including approximately
$700,000 in 2006.

The Company recorded a one-time charge in the fourth
quarter of 2005 of approximately $70,000, or $.01 per
share, as a result of the accelerated vesting.

Stock options transactions under the Plans were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

Weighted Avg. Weighted Avg. Weighted Avg.
Options  Exercise Price Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 944,967 $14.12 948,268 $11.34 884,988 $ 9.40
Granted 120,505 33.42 178,220 25.37 187,440 17.98
Exercised (124,639) 8.57 (145,634) 8.28 (106,578) 6.06
Forfeited (18,867) 24.83 (35,887) 19.42 (17,582) 16.46

Outstanding at end of year 921,966 $17.18 944,967 $14.12 948,268 $11.34

Exercisable at December 31 921,966 $17.18
Options available for grant

at December 31 125,134
Weighted-average fair value of

options granted during the year $12.32 $ 8.96 $ 6.27

Exercise prices for options outstanding as of December 31, 2005 are presented in the following table.

As of December 31, 2005
Options Weighted Avg. Weighted Avg. Options Weighted Avg.

Outstanding Exercise Price  Contractual Life Exercisable Exercise Price

Options with exercise prices
ranging from $2.09 to $10.73 291,998 $ 8.62 2.5 Years 291,998 $ 8.62

Options with exercise prices
ranging from $10.74 to $18.03 365,710 15.53 6.2 Years 365,710 15.53

Options with exercise prices
ranging from $18.04 to $33.50 264,258 28.90 8.6 Years 264,258 28.90

Total options outstanding with exercise
prices ranging from $2.09 to $33.50 921,966 $17.18 5.7 Years 921,966 $17.18
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15. Regulatory Matters

Regulatory authorities restrict the amount of cash dividends
the Bank can declare without prior regulatory approval.
Presently, the Bank cannot declare cash dividends in one
year in excess of its net profits for the current year plus its
retained net profits for the two preceding years, less any
required transfers to surplus. In addition, dividends paid
by the Bank to the Corporation would be prohibited if the
effect thereof would cause the Bank’s capital to be reduced
below applicable minimum capital requirements.

The Company and the Bank are subject to various regula-
tory capital requirements administered by federal banking
agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements
can initiate certain mandatory and possible additional dis-
cretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could
have a direct material effect on the Company’s financial
statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the
regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, the
Company and the Bank must meet specific capital guide-
lines that involve quantitative measures of assets, liabili-
ties, and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under
regulatory accounting practices. The capital amounts and
classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by

the regulators about components, risk weightings and other
factors.

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure
capital adequacy require the Company and the Bank to
maintain minimum amounts and ratios (set forth below)
of total and Tier 1 capital (as defined in the regulations) to
risk-weighted assets, and of Tier 1 capital to average assets.
Management believes, as of December 31, 2005, that the
Company and the Bank meet all capital adequacy require-
ments to which they are subject.

As of December 31, 2005, and December 31, 2004, the most
recent notification from the Office of the Comptroller of
the Currency categorized the Bank as well capitalized un-
der the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action.
To be categorized as well capitalized the Bank must main-
tain minimum total risk-based, Tier 1 risk-based, and Tier 1
leverage ratios as set forth in the table below. There are no
conditions or events since that notification that manage-
ment believes have changed the Bank’s category.

The following table presents the risk-based and leverage
capital amounts and ratios at December 31, 2005 and 2004
for the Company and the Bank.

To Be Well Capitalized
For Capital Under Prompt Corrective

Actual Adequacy Purposes Action Provisions

(dollars in thousands) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

Company
As of December 31, 2005

Risked based capital ratios:
Total capital $118,270 10.61% > $89,146 > 8.0% > N/A > N/A
Tier 1 capital 109,040 9.79 > 44,573 > 4.0 > N/A > N/A

Leverage ratio 109,040 6.69 > 65,152 > 4.0 > N/A > N/A

Bank
As of December 31, 2005

Risk based capital ratios:
Total capital $117,980 10.60% > $89,083 > 8.0% > $111,354 > 10.0%
Tier 1 capital 108,749 9.77 > 44,542 > 4.0 > 66,813 > 6.0

Leverage ratio 108,749 6.68 > 65,120 > 4.0 > 81,400 > 5.0
Company
As of December 31, 2004

Risked based capital ratios:
Total capital $105,936 12.49% > $67,833 > 8.0% > N/A > N/A
Tier 1 capital  98,090 11.57 > 33,917 > 4.0 > N/A > N/A

Leverage ratio   98,090 7.79 > 50,358 > 4.0 > N/A > N/A

Bank
As of December 31, 2004

Risked based capital ratios:
Total capital $105,708 12.48% > $67,773 > 8.0% > $84,716 > 10.0%
Tier 1 capital  97,862 11.55 > 33,886 > 4.0 > 50,829 > 6.0

Leverage ratio  97,862 7.78 > 50,326 > 4.0 > 62,907 > 5.0
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16. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has established a 401(k) Retirement Savings
Plan for all of its employees who meet eligibility require-
ments. Employees may contribute up to 15% of their sal-
ary to the Plan. The Company will provide a discretionary
matching contribution for up to 6% of each employee’s
salary. In 2005, the Company’s matching contribution was
established at 50% of the employees’ salary deferral.  For
2004 and 2003, the Company’s matching contribution was
established at 25% of the employees’ eligible salary defer-
ral. The amount charged to expense was $269,000,
$158,000, and $96,000 in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respec-
tively.

17. Comprehensive Income

Accounting principles generally require that recognized rev-
enue, expenses, gains, and losses be included in net in-
come. Although certain changes in assets and liabilities,
such as unrealized gains and losses on available for sale
securities, are reported as a separate component of the eq-
uity section of the balance sheet, such items, along with
net income are components of comprehensive income.

The only comprehensive income item that the Company
presently has is unrealized gains (losses) on securities avail-
able for sale. The federal income taxes allocated to the un-
realized gains (losses) are presented in the table below. The
reclassification adjustments included in comprehensive
income are also presented.

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Unrealized holding gains (losses)
arising during the year $(7,258) $(909) $(831)

Less reclassification
adjustment for gains (losses)
included in net income (673) 0 640

Net unrealized gains (losses) $(6,585) (909) (1,471)
Tax (expense) benefit 2,239 309 500

Net of tax amount $(4,346) $(600) $(971)

18. Commitments and Contingencies

In January 2004, the Company entered into an agreement
for naming rights to Commerce Bank Park (formerly known
as Riverside Stadium) located on Harrisburg City Island,
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. Commerce Bank Park is home
of the Harrisburg Senators, a AA team affiliated with Ma-
jor League Baseball. The term of the naming rights agree-
ment is 15 years with a total obligation of $3.5 million
spread over the term.

The Company has purchased land located at 204 Walnut
Street in the City of Harrisburg, Dauphin County, Penn-
sylvania next to the existing Downtown Harrisburg store.
The Company plans to add additional parking space for
this store with this purchase.

The Company has purchased the land located at the cor-
ner of Friendship Road and TecPort Drive in Swatara Town-
ship, Dauphin County, Pennsylvania. The Company is
currently constructing a Headquarters/Operations Facility,
to be called Commerce Center, on this property to be
opened in March of 2006. Management expects the remain-
ing capital expenditures for this building to be approxi-
mately $8.0 million.

The Company has purchased the parcel of land located at
1249 Market Street, Lemoyne, Cumberland County, Penn-
sylvania. The Company is currently constructing a full-ser-
vice store on this property to be opened in April 2006. This
store is intended to replace the existing store currently lo-
cated at 100 Senate Avenue, Camp Hill, Pennsylvania. In
December 2005, the Office of the Comptroller of the Cur-
rency (“OCC”) approved the Company’s request to relo-
cate the main office of the Bank from 100 Senate Avenue,
Camp Hill, Pennsylvania to 1249 Market Street, Lemoyne,
Pennsylvania.

The Company has purchased the parcel of land at
Linglestown and Patton Roads, Harrisburg, Dauphin
County, Pennsylvania. The Company plans to construct a
full-service store on this property to be opened in the fu-
ture.

The Company has purchased the land at the corner of
Carlisle Road and Alta Vista Road in Dover Township, York
County, Pennsylvania. The Company plans to construct a
full-service store on this property to be opened in the fu-
ture.

The Company has entered into a land lease for the pre-
mises located at 23 Rohrerstown Road, Hempfield Town-
ship, Lancaster County, Pennsylvania. The Company plans
to construct a full-service store on this property to be
opened in 2006.
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The Company has entered into a land lease for the pre-
mises located at 1416 Lititz Pike in Lancaster County, Penn-
sylvania. The Company plans to construct a full-service
store on this property to be opened in 2006.

In addition, the Company is also subject to certain rou-
tine legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary
course of business. It is management’s opinion that the
ultimate resolution of these claims will not have a mate-
rial adverse effect on the Company’s financial position and
results of operations.

19. Related Party Transactions

Commerce Bancorp, Inc. (an 11.1% shareholder of com-
mon stock and 100% shareholder of Series A preferred stock
of the Company), through a subsidiary (Commerce Bank,
N.A., a national bank located in Cherry Hill, New Jersey),
provides various services to the Company. These services
include maintenance to the store LAN network, proof and
encoding services, deposit account statement rendering,
ATM/VISA card processing, data processing, advertising
support, and call center support. The Company paid ap-
proximately $2.1 million, $2.0 million, and $1.4 million
for services provided by Commerce Bancorp, Inc. during
2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. Insurance premiums
and commissions, which are paid to a subsidiary of Com-
merce Bancorp, Inc., are included in the total amount paid.
The Company routinely sells loan participations to Com-
merce Bank, N.A. and at December 31, 2005 and 2004, ap-
proximately $2.0 million and $2.1 million, respectively, of
these participations were outstanding.

A federal funds line of credit was established with Com-
merce Bank N.A. in the amount of $15 million, which
could be drawn upon if needed. The balance was $12.7
million at December 31, 2005 and $0 at December 31, 2004.

The Company has engaged in certain transactions with en-
tities, which would be considered related parties. Payments
for goods and services, including legal services, to these
related parties totaled $413,000, $259,000 and $271,000,
in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Management believes
disbursements made to related parties were substantially
equivalent to those that would have been paid to unaffili-
ated companies for similar goods and services.

20. Fair Value of Financial
Instruments

FASB Statement No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of
Financial Instruments” (FAS 107), requires disclosure of fair
value information about financial instruments, whether or
not recognized in the balance sheet, for which it is practi-
cal to estimate that value. In cases where quoted market
prices are not available, fair values are based on estimates
using present value or other valuation techniques. These
techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions
used, including the discount rate and estimates of future
cash flows.

Management uses its best judgment in estimating the fair
value of the Company’s financial instruments; however,
there are inherent weaknesses in any estimation technique.
Therefore, for substantially all financial instruments, the
fair value estimates herein are not necessarily indicative
of the amounts the Company could have realized in a sale
transaction on the dates indicated. The estimated fair value
amounts have been measured as of their respective year
ends, and have not been re-evaluated or updated for pur-
poses of these financial statements subsequent to those re-
spective dates. As such, the estimated fair values of these
financial instruments subsequent to the respective report-
ing dates may be different than the amounts reported at
each year-end.

The following information should not be interpreted as an
estimate of the fair value of the entire Company since a
fair value calculation is only provided for a limited por-
tion of the Company’s assets and liabilities. Due to a wide
range of valuation techniques and the degree of subjectiv-
ity used in making the estimates, comparisons between the
Company’s disclosures and those of other companies may
not be meaningful. The Company, in estimating its fair
value disclosures for financial instruments, used the fol-
lowing methods and assumptions:

Cash and cash equivalents

The carrying amounts reported approximate those assets’
fair value.

Securities

Fair values of securities are based on quoted market prices,
where available. If quoted market prices are not available,
fair values are based on quoted market prices of compa-
rable instruments.
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Loans Receivable

For variable-rate loans that reprice frequently and with no
significant change in credit risk, fair values are based on
carrying values. The fair values for other loans receivable
were estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, using
interest rates currently being offered for loans with similar
terms to borrowers of similar credit quality. Loans with sig-
nificant collectibility concerns were fair valued on a loan-
by-loan basis utilizing a discounted cash flow method or
the fair market value of the underlying collateral.

Accrued Interest Receivable and Payable

The carrying amount of accrued interest receivable and ac-
crued interest payable approximate their fair values.

Deposit Liabilities

The fair values disclosed for demand deposits (e.g., inter-
est-bearing and noninterest-bearing checking, passbook
savings, and certain types of money market accounts) are,
by definition, equal to the amount payable on demand at
the reporting date (i.e., their carrying amounts). Fair val-
ues for fixed-rate certificates of deposit are estimated us-
ing a discounted cash flow calculation that applies interest

rates currently being offered on certificates of deposit to a
schedule of aggregated expected monthly maturities on
time deposits.

Short-term Borrowings

The carrying amounts reported approximate those liabili-
ties’ fair value.

Long-term Debt

The fair values for long-term debt were estimated using the
interest rate currently available from the related party that
holds the existing debt.

Off-balance Sheet Instruments

Fair values for the Company’s off-balance sheet instruments
are based on fees currently charged to enter into similar
agreements, taking into account the remaining terms of
the agreements and the counterparties’ credit standing.

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s
financial instruments as of December 31 are presented in
the following table.

2005 2004

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(in thousands) Amount Value Amount Value

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 36,422 $ 36,422 $ 40,910 $ 40,910
Securities 687,102 682,814 523,982 524,973
Loans, net (including loans held for sale) 826,024 821,057 652,783 657,033
Restricted investments in bank stock 11,463 11,463 5,716 5,716
Accrued interest receivable 7,681 7,681 5,582 5,582

Financial liabilities:
Deposits $1,371,062 $1,370,739 $1,160,547 $1,162,004
Long-term debt 13,600 18,451 13,600 18,008
Short-term borrowings 157,900 157,900 0 0
Accrued interest payable 643 643 509 509

Off-balance sheet instruments:
Standby letters of credit $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Commitments to extend credit 0 0 0 0
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21. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following represents summarized unaudited quarterly financial data of the Company which, in the opinion of
management, reflects adjustments (comprising only normal recurring accruals) necessary for fair presentation (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended
December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31

2005
Interest income $22,923 $20,155 $19,294 $17,180
Interest expense 9,776 7,410 6,439 5,022
Net interest income 13,147 12,745 12,855 12,158
Provision for loan losses 140 250 625 545
Gains (losses) on sales of investment securities (859) 613 186 0
Provision for federal income taxes 701 1,117 1,252 1,211
Net income 1,476 2,325 2,555 2,461
Net income per share:
Basic $ 0.24 $ 0.39 $ 0.43 $ 0.41
Diluted 0.23 0.36 0.40 0.39

2004
Interest income $16,632 $15,638 $14,834 $13,878
Interest expense 4,539 3,755 3,193 2,910
Net interest income 12,093 11,883 11,641 10,968
Provision for loan losses 721 675 675 575
Gains on sales of investment securities 0 0 0 0
Provision for federal income taxes 1,123 1,069 1,052 934
Net income 2,284 2,198 2,181 1,928
Net income per share:
Basic $ 0.41 $ 0.47 $ 0.47 $ 0.41
Diluted 0.38 0.43 0.43 0.38
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22. Condensed Financial Statements of Parent Company

Balance Sheets

December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004

ASSETS
Cash $ 485 $ 324
Investment in subsidiaries:

Banking subsidiary 104,353 97,811
Non-banking subsidiaries 600 600

Other assets 188 706

Total Assets $105,626 $99,441

LIABILITIES
Long-term debt $ 13,600 $13,600
Other liabilities 383 802

Total liabilities 13,983 14,402

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock 400 400
Common stock 6,014 5,870
Surplus 64,859 62,790
Retained earnings 24,767 16,030
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,397) (51)

Total stockholders’ equity 91,643 85,039

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $105,626 $99,441

Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Income:
Dividends from bank subsidiary $1,512 $1,044 $1,396
Interest income 62 62 62

1,574 1,106 1,458

Expenses:
Interest expense 1,418 1,418 1,418
Other 717 521 349

2,135 1,939 1,767

Income (loss) before income (taxes) benefit and
equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries (561) (833) (309)

Income (taxes) benefit 703 638 580

142 (195) 271
Equity in undistributed net income of bank subsidiary 8,675 8,786 6,286

Net income $8,817 $8,591 $6,557
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Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Operating Activities:
Net Income $8,817 $8,591 $6,557
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Amortization of financing costs 6 6 6
Noncash compensation 68 0 0
Increase in other liabilities (419) 45 55
Decrease in other assets 512 0 0
Equity in undistributed net income of bank subsidiary (8,675) (8,786) (6,286)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 309 (144) 332

Investing Activities:
Investment in bank subsidiary (1,725) (27,018) (1,210)

Net cash (used) by investing activities (1,725) (27,018) (1,210)

Financing Activities:
Proceeds from common stock options exercised 874 982 556
Proceeds from issuance of common stock

under stock purchase plan 783 675 677
Proceeds from issuance of common stock

in connection with stock offerings 0 25,408 0
Cash dividends on preferred stock and cash

in lieu of fractional shares (80) (97) (89)

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,577 26,968 1,144

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 161 (194) 266
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 324 518 252

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 485 $ 324 $ 518
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